
                                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 

 
 
 
  

 

     
  

AGENDA  Tuesday, June 29, 2021  7:00PM 
          By ZOOM 

A. CALL TO ORDER  
 

B. ROLL CALL/ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    
 

C. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 
C1) Approve Minutes: Council Meeting 6-1-2021, Special Call 6-22-21 10AM & Special Call/ Work Session 6-22-21 
6:30PM 
 

D. REPORTS:   
1)  Planning & Zoning Report 
2)  City Manager’s Report 
3)  City Attorney’s Report  
4)  Council Remarks 
5)  Mayor’s Report 
 

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
Any member of the public may address the Council, during the time allotted for public comment. Each attendee will be 
allowed 3 minutes for comments at the discretion of the Presiding Officer. The public comment period will be limited to 40 
minutes and it is not a time for dialogue. If your public comment contains a series of questions, please submit those to the 
City Clerk in writing. This will facilitate follow-up by the council or staff. The City Council desires to allow an opportunity 
for public comment; however, the business of the City must proceed in an orderly, timely manner. 
 

F. OLD BUSINESS 
 

 

G. NEW BUSINESS 
G1) Approve 2021 Millage Rate: &   
        a) Presentation 
        b) Public Hearing to take Public Comment on the 2021 Millage rate  
        c) Adopt 2021 Millage Rate by ordinance 

       G2) Reschedule August City Council Meeting 
       G3) Issue Call for Election and Set Qualifying period for November General Election 
       G4) Public Hearing: A conditional use permit request from Mohammad Bilal Khattak for 1353 Brockett 

Road, Suite B-1, Clarkston,  zoned NC-2, Moderate Density Neighborhood Commercial for a laundromat. 
G5) Public Hearing: Variance requests from William R. Braswell Jr. of Oak Hall Companies, LLC for   
the property located at 3809 East Avenue 
G6) Approve SPLOST Project 04-B+C Trailhead/Mell Ave/Rowland St Temporary Easement 
Agreements   

 G7) Consider  DeKalb Regional Land Bank 
 G8) Repeal Ordinance 19-433 to remove late Night Sales of alcohol from restaurants 
 G9) Adopt Resolution Authorizing, Among Other Things, the Issuance and Sale of a Tax Anticipation 
Note in the Principal Amount of $500,000 
G10) Repeal Mask Mandate Ordinance 
G11) Consider adding a new SAC for Business & Economic Development Committee SAC 
G12) Consider Alcohol package application for Fresh Food Town LLC, 4604 E Ponce de Leon Ave 
G13) Council to Recommend City Website Redesign Firm 
 

H. ADJOURNMENT:  

Jamie Carroll       Ahmed Hassan 
Awet Eyasu   Laura Hopkins 
Debra Johnson  Mark W. Perkins 

                     
 Robin I. Gomez– City Manager 

Beverly Burks –Mayor 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

MINUTES 
CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 

Tuesday, June 1, 2021 
Via Zoom 
Officials Present by Teleconference 
Mayor:  Beverly H. Burks 
Council: Jamie Carroll, Awet Eyasu, Jamie Carroll, Laura  
    Hopkins, Debra Johnson, Mark W. Perkins 
City Manager: Robin I. Gomez  
City Clerk: Tracy Ashby  
City Attorney: Stephen Quinn 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER  
 

B. ROLL CALL/ PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE    
Council Ahmed Hassan excused absence 
Present: Awet Eyasu, Jamie Carroll, Debra Johnson, Mark Perkins 
Laura Hopkins: Present on the call 

 
 
 

C. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS/ PRESENTATION 
C1) Approve Minutes: Council Meeting 5-4-2021 and Work Session 5-25-21  
Awet Eyasu made a motion to approve the meeting minutes for 5-4-2021 Council Meeting and 5-25-21 Work 
Session. Debra Johnson seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion carried (5,0).  
 

D. REPORTS:   
1)  Planning & Zoning Report 
Shawanna Qawiy reported on upcoming variance request and a conditional use permit.  
The Historic Preservation Committee will meet on June 16 to review the current history boundaries, only for 
review purposes.  The Planning Director provided an updated on current development projects.  
 
2)  City Manager’s Report 
The City manager provided an updated of the Streetscape project. The City intends to hire company to do 
maintenance on 150 trees installed and the landscape component. The City currently plans to hold a ribbon cutting 
for streetscape project in mid-July.  Mr. Gomez provided a year-to-date finance report thru May 31, 2021, and he 
discussed the upcoming celebrations in the City. 
 
3)  City Attorney’s Report  
No report but some legal updates will be provided in the Executive Session.  
 
4)  Council Remarks 
Awet Eyasu discussed that May 24 was Eritrean Independence Day and he congratulated this year’s high school 
graduates.  
 
Jamie Carroll reported on his attendance of the Early Learning Task Force Meeting, the Housing & Infrastructure 
meeting. An Affordable housing summit is being planned for Fall.  For Memorial Day he thanked everyone who 
served and sacrificed for our Country.  
 
Debra Johnson reported on her assistance with the bike month kick-off event. She attended the Community 
Development meeting and the Housing & Infrastructure meeting. She thanked everyone who has served our 
country.  She reminded that the Pride month kick off today and that we are here for everyone.  The recent food 
drive was again successful, and she thanked the Mayor, the City Manager and Public Works for assisting on 
deliveries, and 200 boxes were distributed.  
 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

Laura Hopkins discussed that today is 100 Anniversary on Tulsa attack with destruction of property and death of 
hundreds, Tulsa has to date not taken responsibility for this horrendous act, and this highlights the importance of 
Juneteenth. The City’s first celebration in Clarkston will be June 19 and a planning meeting, by Zoom, will be on 
held on June 3. 
 
Mark Perkins discussed his coordinating with some businesses and the City Manager to resolve some licensing 
issues.  He discussed the bombing of Black Wall Street and importance to educate and move forward. He is 
married into a Goldstar family and discussed the importance of Memorial Day. 
 
5)  Mayor’s Report 
Kay Sibetta provided a Presentation on AARP on Clarkston being an Age Friendly Community.  Clarkston is the 
540th member and the Virtual certificate was presented. 
Mayor Burks provided information on the meetings and events she attended to include Bike Month, the Housing 
and Community Development Meetings, ARC meeting and the Mayor’s Institute, the Resettlement Agency’s 
Meeting. Her Sorotity AKA will hold aa World Refugee Festival on June 5. She reported on the Juneteenth Event 
scheduled for June 19 in the Tahoe Village.  
 
 

E. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
Any member of the public may address the Council, during the time allotted for public comment. Each attendee will be 
allowed 3 minutes for comments at the discretion of the Presiding Officer. The public comment period will be limited to 
40 minutes and it is not a time for dialogue. If your public comment contains a series of questions, please submit those to 
the City Clerk in writing. This will facilitate follow-up by the council or staff. The City Council desires to allow an 
opportunity for public comment; however, the business of the City must proceed in an orderly, timely manner. 
 
Chris Busing addressed comments on in-person meetings and installing City well water. 
 
Dean Moore discussed outreach and collaboration with other cities 
 
Warren Hadlock commented on installing City well water 
 

F. OLD BUSINESS 
F1) Second Read: Amend the City Charter to modernize certain provisions; to Amend Article IV of the Charter   
Regarding Budgeting, Appropriations and Auditing; to Repeal Conflicting Provisions 

Council to consider approving the accompanying Charter Amendment Ordinances that captures 
recommended changes provided by the Charter Review Committee. 
Proposed changes include expanding the city manager’s duties to add proposing personnel rules (302 (d)(9); 
specifying that municipal court has the authority to enforce the city’s nuisance abatement ordinance (3.06 (h); 
amending the oath of office to delete “So help me God.” (3.11); enhancing fiscal administration through the 
requirement for a city manager’s budget message and procedures for amending appropriations (4.02); and 
enhancing the audit function by specifying the use of a certified public accounting firm, expanding the review of 
the audit report and making the report available to the public (4.05). 
 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a motion to amend the City Charter to modernize certain provisions; to Amend Article 
IV of the Charter   Regarding Budgeting, Appropriations and Auditing; to Repeal Conflicting Provisions. 
Second: Mark Perkins 
Vote: A vote was called and the motion passed unanimously (5,0). 
 

F2) Adopt a City-wide Litter Control Ordinance  
To continue to promote a clean, litter-free, beautiful City combined with a request resulting from an audit by the 
Metropolitan North Georgia Water Planning District, the City is desirous to consolidate various litter control 
sections in the current City Code of Ordinances in various chapters (5, 10, 12, 19) into one comprehensive new 
Section 23. 

Specifically, the ordinance will: 

1. Provide for uniform prohibition of any and all littering on public and private property. 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

2. Prevent the desecration of the beauty and quality of life of the City of Clarkston and prevent 
harm to the public health, safety, environment, and general welfare, including the degradation of water and aquatic 
resources caused by litter. 

In general, the proposed ordinance provides for numerous provisions including: 

1. General provision – purpose, intent, applicability 
2. Definitions of litter and public/private property 
3. Prohibition of littering in public and private areas 
4. Regulations/safeguards on the transport of waste, trash, junk, etc., by people and haulers 
5. Regulations governing animal waste 
6. Enforcement and violations  

Discussion by Council to refer this item to the Environmental SAC 
Motion: Laura motion to refer the item to the Environmental Committee 
Second: Awet Eyasu 
Discussion: Jamie Carroll questioned any issues that could have been mentioned at the work session.  Laura 
Hopkins stated she has concerns with any ordinance that allows for fine up to $1000 or arrest and these should be 
discussed further.  The City Manager stated that all of the items in the ordinance are already in the current code but 
span across four sections. The intent was to combine all these areas into one separate ordinance. Mark Perkins 
stated his understanding was this is consolidating the sections so he suggested that the council approve and then the 
Environmental Committee can go back and study when contained into one section.  
 
Vote: Mayor Burks called for the vote  
Awet- yes 
Hopkins yes 
Johnson yes 
Carroll No 
Perkins No 
Hassan Absent 
 The Motion passed and the item is referred to the Environmental Committee 
 

        F3) Approve Parking Lot Lease Agreement with the Clarkston United Methodist Church  
  The City Manager detailed the parking lot  has been leased since 2011, The City of Clarkston originally approved 

an annual (and renewable) parking lot lease effective Mach 29, 2011, with the Clarkston United Methodist Church 
for the City’s use of the Church parking lot located at 1019 Rowland St. The lease has continued since then with at 
least one significant change that altered an annual $600 lease payment from the City to the Church to a monthly 
payment (approximately $134.57 monthly) for the Church’s use of a trash/solid waste disposal container 
(arrangement continues at present). The lease has allowed for additional and overflow parking needs by the City for 
meetings and events held mainly at Clarkston City Hall and the Clarkston Woman’s Club (both located diagonally 
and across the street from the referenced parking lot). 
It is the City’s desire to continue a lease arrangement with the following main terms/specifics: 
1. Length of lease - Annual lease to renew automatically for thirty (30) consecutive one-year terms. 
2. Rent – no daily, weekly, monthly, or annual lease payment – City will pay monthly trash/solid waste 
container (8 yard size) fee, currently $134.57, and any subsequent increases or decreases in said fee 
3. Parking Lot Improvements, valued at $146,702 - Pave and construct two driveways in the Methodist 
 
Parking Lot, including drainage improvements on city right-of-way along Rogers Street, more specifically: 
• Mill existing asphalt and re-compact millings in-place 
• Resurface with 3 inches of asphalt 
• Restripe parking lot after paving; existing parking stalls - 59; new parking stalls – 60 
• Remove asphalt between Friends of Refugee house and NAMB parking lot and grass 
• Add dumpster pad and wooden enclosure with gate. Dumpster pad to be placed behind house 
• Add 2 defined driveways onto Rogers Street – 30 feet wide each 
• Add concrete curb along south end of parking lot to direct water to new drainage structures 
• Add water quality device in church parking lot to address stormwater runoff quality issues 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

• Reconstruct existing storm lines on city ROW to address long history of flooding at houses on south side of 
Rogers Street 

 • Replace one existing dirt driveway with a concrete apron  
 
 Laura Hopkins questioned if the church has agreed and the City Manager confirmed yes.  
 

Motion: Mark Perkins made a motion to approve the Parking Lot Lease Agreement with the Clarkston United 
Methodist Church 
Second: Debra Johnson 
Vote: Motion Passed, 4-Yes: Awet Eyasu, Debra Johnson, Jamie Carroll, Mark Perkins,   No- 0,   1-Abstain: Laura 
Hopkins  
 

G. NEW BUSINESS 
G1) Adopt 2021 Advertised Millage Rate Millage 
The City Manager discussed 14.36% increase when considering staying at the current 15.89 millage, rollback rate 
14.557.  He discussed that Staff recommend the Council to adopt the rollback rate 14.557.  If approved no 
additional public hearings are required and the Council would adopt at the June 29 Meeting. 
Council discussion on the proposed advertised rate. 
 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a motion Advertise 15.89  for the Millage Rate. 
Second: Jamie Carroll seconded the motion 
Vote: Motion  passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G2) Adopting City Animal Control ordinance 
Mr. Gomez discussed that the City has utilized the DeKalb County animal control county ordinance that 
incorporates many useful areas regarding animal control guidelines including owner’s responsibilities. To 
continue to ensure the proper and safe regulation of domesticated animals including the responsibilities required 
of all pet owners/custodians it is more advantageous for the City to have its own Animal Control ordinance that 
solely and specifically applies to the limits of the City of Clarkston. Consequently, the below are revisions and 
additions to City Code, Chapter 10 – Health and Sanitation, Article V, Animal Control. 
Council discussion on changing specific term for responsible person for pets.  
 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a motion to adopt the City Animal Control ordinance with the amendment of “owner” to 
“custodian” and to add into the definitions. 
Second: Jamie Carroll  
Vote: Motion passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G3) Approve Council Standing Advisory Committee Assignments 
Councilmember Perkins stated he would like to be added to the Transportation and Environment Committee as 
co-chair with Councilman Eyasu and to join the Community Development committee. 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a motion approve to add Councilman Perkins as the co-Chair to the Transportation 
and Environment Committee and to join the Community Development committee. 
Second: Debra Johnson  
Discussion: That the Vice Chair position is open also for the Community Development committee. 
 
Awet Eyasu amended his motion for perk to add Cou Perkins to ne vice cahir of the  co chair of Community 
Development committee 
Second: Debra Johnson.  
Vote: Unanimous (5, 0). 
 
 
Vote: (for initial Motion) was called and passed unanimously (5,0). 
 
G4) ARPA Funding 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

Mr. Gomez disused that on March 11, 2021, President Biden signed H.R. 1319, the American Rescue Plan Act of 
2021 (ARPA), that includes comprehensive COVID-19 related relief totaling $1.9 trillion, with $65.1 billion for 
cities throughout the U.S. For the first time all 19,000 cities, towns, and villages of all sizes will be eligible to 
receive a direct allocation from the federal government to help address the pandemic-related needs of cities, 
residents, and the business community. We have received information from the Georgia Municipal Association 
(GMA) that they continue working closely with the National League of Cities, the White House Office of 
Intergovernmental Affairs, and the U.S. Treasury Department to finalize the development of detailed guidance as 
to how cities may use funds and the mechanism that will be used for cities to draw down funds. We will follow 
the prescribed directions and processes to receive (draw-down) the funds when available. 
Discussion on potential allocations for funding.  
 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a to approve proposed allocation of ARPA funding for Clarkston with reducing the 
allocation for utility assist by $50K and to add subset category for food distribution in the amount of $50K.  
Second: Mark W. Perkins 
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G5) Juneteenth Day Proclamation 
Mayor Burks discussed the importance of celebrating Juneteenth and the City will hold its first Juneteenth event 
on June 19 at the Tahoe Village from 4-8pm and Friday is an employee holiday.  
 
Motion: Laura Hopkins made a motion to adopt the Juneteenth Proclamation.  
Second: Debra Johnson 
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G6) World Refugee Day Proclamation 
Mayor Burks confirmed she made the requested adjustment to language on Clarkston as a Welcoming City and 
she discussed the importance of World Refugee Day. 
 
Motion: Awet Eyasu made a motion to adopt the World Refugee Day proclamation  
Second: Mark Perkins 
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G7) LGBTQ Month Proclamation 
Mayor Burks spoke on the LGBTQ proclamation and that the requested adjustment to language referring to 
Clarkston as a Welcoming City had also been amended. 
 
Motion: Debra Johnson made a motion to adopt the LGBTQ Month Proclamation 
Second: Laura Hopkins  
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
G8) Adopt Resolution Confirming DeKalb Conduct 2021 Elections 
The City Manager reported that under the provisions of O.C.G.A. 21-2-45(c), the City of Clarkston voted to 
approve Ordinance 268 on July 1, 2003, which authorized DeKalb County to conduct all city elections held 
pursuant to the provisions of the Georgia Municipal Elections Code. The City of Clarkston entered into an 
Intergovernmental Agreement with DeKalb County in 2013 to define the obligations of the County and the City 
with respect to the conduct of elections. The resolution confirms DeKalb County to conduct the 2021 Clarkston 
Municipal Election. 
 
Motion: Mark W. Perkins made a motion to adopt the Resolution Confirming DeKalb Conduct 2021 Elections 
Second: Debra Johnson  
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 

H. EXECUTIVES SESSION 
Mayor Burks stated that this item is for an Executive session to discuss A Legal Matter. 
 
Motion: Jamie Carroll made a motion to go into Executive Session to discuss a legal matter 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 6-1-2021 
 

Second: Debra Johnson 
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 
Executive session Held 
 

Motion: Debra Johnson  made a motion close the executive session and go into open session: 
Second: Laura Hopkins 
Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 
 

I. ADJOURNMENT:  
 Motion: Laura Hopkins made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
 Second: Debra Johnson 
 Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0). 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL MEETING 6-22-21, 10AM 
 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 
Tuesday, June 22, 2021 10:00 AM 
Via Zoom 
Officials Present by Teleconference/Zoom 
Mayor:  Beverly H. Burks 
Council:  Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan 

 Debra Johnson, Mark Perkins 
                              City Manager:    Robin I. Gomez  

                                        City Clerk:         Tracy Ashby 
 

 
 
A. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL CALL MEETING  

Mayor Burks called to order 10am 
 

B. ROLL CALL  
Mayor Burks, Awet Eyasu, Ahmed Hassan, Debra Johnson, Mark Perkins 
 

C. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
No Public Comments 

D. OLD BUSINESS 
 

E. NEW BUSINESS 
E1)  Presentation & Public Hearing to take comment on the proposed 2021 millage rate 
The City Manager provided a presentation on the millage rate proposed for 2021.  
 
Public Hearing:  
Mayor Burks opened the Public Hearing. 
 
No Public Comments on the proposed millage ate for 2021.  
Mayor Burks closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Council discussion on the millage rate to adopt for 2021. 

 

F. ADJOURN SPECIAL CALL MEETING 
Motion: Mark Perkins made a motion to adjourn the Special Call meeting.  
Second: Debra Johnson  
Vote: A vote was called an passed unanimously (4, 0). Meeting adjourned.  
 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

WORK SESSION MINUTES 
CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL 
Tuesday, June 22, 2021 6:30PM 
Via Zoom 
Officials Present by Teleconference/Zoom 
Mayor:  Beverly H. Burks 
Council:  Jamie Carroll, Awet Eyasu, Laura Hopkins 

 Debra Johnson, Ahmed Hassan 
                              City Manager:    Robin I. Gomez  

                                        City Clerk:         Tracy Ashby 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL CALL MEETING  
Mayor Burks called to order at 6:30pm 
 

B. ROLL CALL  
Present: Hassan, Johnson, Perkins, Carroll,  
Eyasu, Hopkins (joined 6:33p) 
 

C. NEW BUSINESS 
C1) Presentation & Public Hearing to take comment on the proposed 2021 millage rate 
Mr. Gomez provided a presentation on the proposed 2021 millage rate. 

 
 Public Hearing 
 Mayor Burks opened the Public Hearing to take public comment on the proposed 2021 Millage Rate. 
 No public comments 
 Mayor Burks closed the Public Hearing. 
 

D. ADJOURN SPECIAL CALL MEETING 
Laura Hopkins motion adjourn the special call meeting 
Debra Johnson second.  A vote was called and the motion carried (6,0).  
 

E. WORK SESSION - RESIDENT COMMENT POLICY  
Any member of the public may address questions or comments to the Council referencing only agenda items after 
the Mayor and Council have had the opportunity to discuss the agenda item. Each Attendee will be allowed 3 
minutes for comments.   

                      
F. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS NEW BUSINESS 

F1) Presentation - Zoning Rewrite  
Lauren Blaszyk, Pond Company, gave a presentation on the Zoning Rewrite status.  
 
F2) Presentation- City Website Redesign  
Presenters of three finalist for website redesign provided presentations. 
CivicPlus John Pugh 
Municode- Chris Rogers 
VC3 – Tim McCuasland 
 
F3) Presentation – Market St Sidewalk 
Larry Kaiser provided a presentation on Market Street Sidewalks and potential options. City 
Engineering firm prepared design plans for two alternatives for sidewalk placement on Market Street. 
The two plans are as follows: 
Option #1 - Place sidewalk partially on the road, which reduces the road width from 24 feet to 21 feet, 
add an 18 inch grass beauty strip and relocate the existing granite curb. Very similar to the Rowland St 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

project (North Indian Creek to Lovejoy). Sidewalk would begin on the Annex parcel and connect to a 
new crosswalk at Market Street. 
Option #2 – Place sidewalk behind the existing curb with a 18 inch beauty strip and reset the existing 
granite curb to improve street drainage 
 
Public Speaker (s): Brian Medford, Dean Moore 
 

G. OLD BUSINESS   
 
 

H. NEW BUSINESS 
H1) Reschedule August City Council Meeting 
The August Council Meeting conflicts with the new schedule for the GMA Annual Convention. 
Rescheduling this meeting to Wednesday, August 4th, (or Monday August 2 to not conflict with 
Wednesday Court) will allow the elected officials participation in the Council meeting and travel to the 
GMA Convention. 
 
Public Speaker (s): None 
 
H2) Issue Call for Election and Set Qualifying period for November General Election 
O.C.G.A 21-2-132 (d) (4) defines that “Each candidate for municipal office or a 
designee shall file a notice of candidacy in the office of the municipal superintendent of such candidate's 
municipality during the municipality's qualifying period. Each municipal superintendent shall designate 
the days of the qualifying period, which shall be no less than three days and no more than five days. The 
days of the qualifying period shall be consecutive days. Qualifying periods shall commence no earlier 
than 8:30 A.M. and shall end no later than 4:30 P.M. 
O.C.G.A 21-2-132 (d) (5) (B)(ii) clarifies that “The hours of qualifying each day shall be from 8:30 A.M. 
until 4:30 P.M. with one hour allowed for the lunch break; provided, however, that municipalities which 
have normal business hours which cover a lesser period of time shall conduct qualifying during normal 
business hours for each such municipality.” 
Staff recommends Issuing the Call for the November 2, 2021 General Election and to set the qualifying 
period for the General Election for three (3) days from Monday, August 16, 2021 until Wednesday, 
August 18, 2021, starting at 8:30am to 4:30pm (daily), except during a daily lunch break from 12:00pm -
1:00pm. 
 
Public speaker (s): None 
 
H3) A conditional use permit request from Mohammad Bilal Khattak for 1353 Brockett Road, Suite B-1, 
Clarkston,  zoned NC-2, Moderate Density Neighborhood Commercial for a laundromat. 
A conditional use permit application request shall be heard at public hearings to determine whether 
or not the applicants proposed conditional use would generally be in the public interest. In 
considering whether a proposed conditional use is in the public interest, the mayor and city council shall 
consider the following, among other relevant factors: (1) Whether the conditional use would be 
injurious to the use and enjoyment of the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity 
or diminish and impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood; (2) Whether the 
proposed conditional use would increase local or state expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or 
maintaining neighboring properties; (3) Whether the establishment of the conditional use would 
impede the normal and orderly development of surrounding property for uses predominant in the 
area; and (4) Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be consistent 
with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general. 
Staff recommends CONDITIONALLY APPROVING the conditional use permit request for a coin 
laundromat with the following 5 conditions. 
1. The business shall only be limited to operating and offering services as a coin laundromat. 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

2. There shall be no long term or overnight parking. 
3. The owner/tenant shall adhere to Sections 12-20 Disorderly Conduct and 12-28 Noise. 
4. The business shall not emit noise, vibrations, smoke, gas, fumes, or odors that would be a 
nuisance to the adjacent properties. 
5. The recommended hours of operation are 7AM to 7PM, Sunday-Saturday. 
PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: 06/15/2021 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended conditionally approving the CUP with staff’s five (5) 
recommendations including four (4) additional conditions. 
(6) No alcohol shall be served or available on the premises. 
(7) No coin operated amusement machines shall be installed. 
(8) All installed machines shall be new. 
(9)The applicant is only allowed to install vending, detergent, and change (coin) machines. 
 
Public Speaker (s): Dean Moore, Brian  Medford 
 
H4)  Variance requests from William R. Braswell Jr. of Oak Hall Companies, LLC for the property 
located at 3809 East Avenue 
A request from Tad Braswell for variance requests to install ornamental trees in lieu 
of shade trees for solar panels and to encroach into the front yard setback an additional 5 feet on 
lots 7-30.A variance request from the terms of the ordinance must not be contrary to the public and must 
be evaluated based on the 6 criteria points. A variance may be granted in an individual case of 
unnecessary hardship upon a finding by the city council that all of the following conditions exist: 
1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of 
property in question because of its size, shape, or topography. 
2. Such conditions are peculiar to the particular piece of property involved. 
3. Such conditions are not the result of the actions of the applicant. 
4. A literal interpretation of the provisions of this ordinance would create an unnecessary 
hardship. 
5. The variance requested will not cause substantial detriment to the public good nor impair the 
purposes or intent of the zoning ordinance. 
6. The variance is not a request to permit a structure or use of land not authorized in the 
applicable district. 
Staff recommends denying the variance requests. 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommends denying the variance requests. 
 
Public Speaker (s):Susan Hood, Brian Medford, Ann McCormack, Dean Moore 
 
H5) Approve SPLOST Project 04-B+C TRAILHEAD/MELL AVE/ROWLAND ST Temporary 
Easement Agreements   
Mr. Gomez detailed that per the City’s approved SPLOST Project 04-B+C the Trailhead/Mell 
Ave/Rowland St street improvements that will include milling, asphalting, road diets, easabouts, 
sidewalks, etc., we have obtained approvals from five (5) private property owners to work partially on 
their driveway or similar areas to complete said work. 
These are non-compensatory easements at driveways for driveway reconstruction purposes (working 
outside city ROW), to match up with the street work. Easements disappear after construction is complete. 
Contractor will work within ROW where we can, but will end up performing some work on the private 
property area mainly driveways. 
The parcel numbers are as follows: 
18 066 03 002 851 Rowland St 
18 066 03 003 855 Rowland St 
18 066 03 006 847 Rowland St 
18 066 03 008 835 Rowland St 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

18 066 03 004 863 Rowland St 
 
Public Speaker (s):Brian Medford 
 
H5a) Discuss DeKalb Regional Land Bank 
DeKalb County in 2010 engaged in a comprehensive study on workforce housing. That report 
produced a major recommendation to establish a land bank in DeKalb County because at the time 
DeKalb County suffered a fallout of the housing crises, with a large stock of vacant, abandoned and 
derelict properties. Such properties present a public safety issue as it attracts crime and vandalism, 
brings nearby property values down and leads to further blight and unnecessary loss of otherwise 
decent, affordable housing. A DeKalb Regional Land Bank was established in 2011; however, became 
defunct after the City of Decatur pulled out. There is still a need to mitigate blighted properties and 
bring vacant properties back onto the tax roll. 
Local Jurisdictions in Georgia are authorized to establish land banks pursuant to the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated section 48-4-60 et seq. Local jurisdictions establish land banks by adopting an 
intergovernmental agreement between the County and at least one municipality. 
All municipalities within DeKalb County are welcome to join. On July 2, 2019, the City Council adopted 
the following Resolution 2019-17 reaffirming its commitment to participate in the DeKalb County Land 
Bank. 
However in the City’s review of the proposed IGA we noted a few concerns to DeKalb County that 
were left out of the final IGA, specifically:  
 
1. The Board is set up so that DeKalb County appointees always control a majority of the board 
with two more members than all cities combined (just one member is allowed per city); 
2. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, the Land Bank can void any City liens placed on real 
property that the Land Bank acquires; 
3. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, it agrees to maintain the exterior (lawn, vegetation, 
removing junk and debris, etc.) of any property acquired by the Land Bank that is located 
within Clarkston; 
4. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, 75% of the City’s share of real property tax from Land Bank 
owned property is paid to the Land Bank rather than the City for the first five years of the 
Land Bank owning the property. 
5. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, it commits to make “in kind” contributions to the Land Bank 
such as meeting space and office supplies. 
 
Public Speaker (s): Brian Medford 
 
H6)  Discuss Repeal Ordinance 19-433 to remove late Night Sales of alcohol from restaurants 
At the October 27, 2020, Council Worksession, City staff and Council discussed various concerns 
regarding two (2) restaurants providing late night sales pursuant to the ordinance’s adoption on Feb 5, 
2019. The below is the information provided to Council at that Oct 27, 2020, Worksession: 
Since the Ordinances’ adoption 2 restaurants have been providing late night sales and for 
the most part have complied with the above requirements. However, the additional hours 
have yielded various concerns including: (1) additional/excessive noise, (2) additional trash, 
(3) traffic/parking, (4) businesses possibly not in compliance with City Ordinance 19-448, 
Bona Fide Restaurants that Must Serve 2 Meals per Day, (5) Customers possibly not wearing 
masks and/or observing reasonable social distancing; (6) Indoor Smoking (other than the 
permitted Hookah at one location); and (7) Over-all appearance of operating as a bar, 
lounge, night club rather than a restaurant. 
City staff has reviewed some of the above concerns with the business owners that have 
made various corrections/accommodations to alleviate the concerns. We are still reviewing 
others to ensure compliance. Many of the above concerns did not exist prior to the Feb 5, 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

2019, “Late Night Sales” Ordinance adoption. 
 
Public Speaker (s): Jimmy (owner Ponce Sports), Brian Medford, Michel Marcuse (Mell Ave), Susan 
Hood (Clydedale Dr), Dean Moore, Jackson Bernard (security), Mike T (Plantation Circle), Zelida 
(Andrew Jackson Dr/ Manager Ponce), Marisa (employee Ponce Sports), Selam Bedada (1608  
 
H7) Adopt Resolution Authorizing, Among Other Things, the Issuance and Sale of a Tax Anticipation 
Note in the Principal Amount of $500,000 
The City of Clarkston will receive approximately 60% of our total anticipated revenue 
for fiscal year 2021 between the months of September and December. The majority of this revenue 
comes from property taxes, insurance premium payments and municipal court fines. The bulk of this 
revenue; property taxes and insurance premium payments, is received during the months of September, 
October and November. 
The City recently received the final 2021 tax digest. While we will not receive property taxes until later 
this year, we have to generate additional available cash flow to cover our payrolls and other budgeted 
expenditures over the summer months. The use and subsequent reduction in surplus available cash on 
hand will result in a temporary cash flow problem during the months from August through September if 
not addressed. (2021 tax proceeds will be remitted from Dekalb County beginning the end of September 
through November). We have prepared a detailed schedule of monthly cash flow projections for the 
remainder of 2021 and expect our deficit balance in operating cash to be approximately $88,000 at the 
middle of August 2021 and topping out with a deficit balance of $500,000 by the end of September 
2021. 
Given that tax proceeds are not received until the 4th quarter of the fiscal year within which they are 
budgeted, this fiscal reality is not unusual. Many Georgia counties and municipalities take advantage of 
a State Law that authorizes the issuance of a Tax Anticipation Note (TAN), which will allow borrowing 
funds sufficient to cover the temporary cash flow deficit. Funds borrowed must be repaid in full prior to 
December 31st of each year. 
Staff has received a quote from BB&T/Truist Bank for the issuance of a Tax Anticipation Note in the 
amount of $500,000 with an interest rate of 2.09% and an anticipated closing date of July 15, 2021. This 
is a short term loan with full payment due of principal and interest on December 31, 2021. The interest 
rate charged on the principal balance will be 2.09% annually amortized over 168 days. Accordingly, the 
interest payments to BB&T will be approximately $4,810. Additionally, issuance of a TAN requires 
preparation of the TAN resolution and other associated legal documents by a bond attorney. The fee for 
the bond attorney will be $5,000. 
 
Public Speaker (s): None 
 
H8) Discuss repealing the mask mandate 
City Council consider repealing the City Ordinance adopted on March 2, 2021, 
that required all to wear a mask or face covering while indoors at public places including 
restaurants (while not at table eating), retail stores, grocery stores, etc., and outdoors in 
which unrelated individuals could not maintain at least a six (6) feet distance. 
 
Public Speaker (s):Brian Medford 
 
H9) Discuss adding a new SAC for Business & Economic Development Committee SAC 
 
The Business & Economic Development Committee would review and discuss matters pertaining to 
Clarkston businesses, business owners, and entrepreneurs. This includes evaluating and developing 
proposals for improvements to policy and processes that impact businesses, planning and organizing 
events that improve the well-being of businesses, promoting practices that build and sustain healthy 
relationships between businesses, the city, and residents. 



COUNCIL SPECIAL CALL/ WORK SESSION 6-22-2021 
 

Public Speaker (s): None 
 
H10) Consider Alcohol package application for Fresh Food Town LLC, 4604 E Ponce de Leon Ave 
The new owners of the Fresh Food Town at 4604E Ponce de Leon Ave has made 
application for an alcohol beverage, license for Beer/Wine/Malt beverages for retail package sales. 
To date: all of the required inspections have been performed and the required background check 
has been passed. Code Compliance Officer Shennetha Smith has reviewed the application and has 
measured the location and found it does meet minimum distances as defined by the Code. 
 
Public Speaker (s): Brian Medford 
 

I. ADJOURNMENT  
Motion: Mark  Perkins made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
Second: Jamie Carroll 
Vote: Unanimous (6,0). Meeting adjourned 12:48 AM.    

 



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 

 
 

PURPOSE:  
To Set the 2021 Advertised Millage (Tax) Rate. 

NEED/ IMPACT: 
The City of Clarkston received its first Valuation Report from DeKalb County in preparation for the Fiscal 
Year (FY) 2021 millage (tax) adoption process on May 25, 2021.  Clarkston City Council received an 
analysis of the 2021 Net Tax Digest, the calculated millage rollback rate, and the recommended 
advertising millage rate at the May 25th Council Work Session.    

DeKalb County has requested that our final adopted millage rate be concluded before July 2, 2021.  
The Council set a proposed advertised millage rate of 15.89 mills at the June 1, 2021 Council Meeting. 
This is the millage rate that will be advertised for public information. The proposed millage is not 
necessarily the same rate the Council will eventually adopt.  The final adopted millage rate may be the 
same as the proposed (advertised) rate or lower than the proposed rate.  The final millage rate adopted 
by the City Council may not be greater than the proposed (advertised) millage rate.  

The Council must hold three public hearings if the proposed millage rate is greater than the millage 
rollback rate (14.557). The purpose of this meeting is to take public comment on the millage rate for 
consideration of the final adopted rate.  There must be 5 days between the public hearings. Two 
meetings can be held on the same day with one starting prior to noon, scheduled for June 22, 2021, 
beginning at 10 am, and a second meeting that will begin at 6:30 pm, also on June 22, 2021.   

The following represents the Clarkston millage rate history back to Fiscal Year (FY) 2010: 
  FY MILLAGE 
2010 11.313 
2011 14.00 
2012 17.95 
2013 17.95 
2014 21.11 
2015 17.11 

ITEM NO: G1 

ACTION TYPE: 
Public Hearing

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting MEETING DATE: JUNE 29, 2021

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2021 Proposed Advertised Millage Rate 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHEMENT: YES  NO 
Pages:   

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683  



Page 2 of 2 
 

 2016  15.89 
 2017  15.89 
 2018  15.89 
 2019  15.89 
 2020  15.89 
 2021  15.89 PROPOSED with ADOPTED FY 2021 
   14.557 Proposed, Roll Back Rate 
 
At the Dec 1, 2020, Council Meeting, the Clarkston City Council adopted the FY 2021 General Fund budget 
(Total:  $6,790,423, property tax: $3,351,801), that included the same proposed millage rate of 15.89 for 
the sixth (6th) consecutive year.   
 
Value of 1 mill:  2019 - $175,107  2020 - $ 186,630 
 
Tax Digest increases: 2018 to 2019:  24%  2019 to 2020:  5.5% 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends setting the millage rate at the roll back rate of 14.557. The City Council will hold 2 two 
Public Hearings on Tuesday, June 22 at 10AM and 6:30PM.  The third and final public hearing will be 
held in conjunction with the June 29th Council Meeting.  The public will have three opportunities to 
provide their input.   
 



PUBLIC HEARING TO ADOPT THE

2021 MILLAGE RATE

City of Clarkston

June 22, 2020

City of Clarkston



Public Hearing to Adopt 2021 Millage Rate

AGENDA

City of Clarkston

 Millage rate presentation and discussion

 Public Hearing

 Adopt resolution setting the final millage rate

Regular Meeting – June 29, 2021



Process

City of Clarkston

 The Council must hold three public hearings  

 June 22nd – 10:00 am Public Hearing

 June 22nd - 6:30 pm Public Hearing

 June 29th – 7:00 pm Regular Meeting

 The purpose of the meetings is to take public comment on the 

millage rate for consideration in setting the final adopted rate

 After the conclusion of the final Public Hearing, the Council will 

vote to adopt the final millage rate for 2021



FIRST… 

A FEW DEFINITIONS

City of Clarkston



Appraised Value

City of Clarkston

The total estimated value of your property (land 

and building), as determined by the DeKalb 

County Tax Assessor's Office



Assessed Value

City of Clarkston

 Typically 40% of the Appraised total value

 You may have exemptions that will lower this 

amount even more, e.g.… Homestead and 

Over age 65



Tax Digest

City of Clarkston

 The value of all the property in an area

 Like your individual property, this figure is 

generally given at 40% of the total appraised 

value 



What is a “mil”?

City of Clarkston

A property tax levy of $1.00 per $1,000 of taxable  

property value

So, if the rate is 10 mils, then you would owe 10 dollars 

for every $1,000 of the assessed value for your house.



Rollback Rate

City of Clarkston

The rollback rate is the millage rate that would 

raise the same amount of revenue as last year if 

applied to the current tax digest.



NOW FOR THE NUMBERS…

City of Clarkston



10 Year Gross Digest History

City of Clarkston

2011 $77,799,972

2012 $70,278,203

2013 $64,729,727

2014 $70,738,477

2015 $108,965,588

2016                      $147,124,307

2017 $165,727,732

2018 $166,859,487

2019 $209,015,765

2020 $220,526,478

2021 $252,195,787    14.4%



City of Clarkston Net Digest Changes 

City of Clarkston

What’s the Headline?

Clarkston lost 30% of its Gross Digest 

between 2010 and 2013

Clarkston Gross Digest has increased 

by 256% Between 2014 and 2021



City of Clarkston Digest

City of Clarkston

➢ Increase due to Increased 

residential/commercial values

 Residential Values up 19.60%

 2020 = 59,100,840

 2021 = 70,684,509

 Commercial Values up 13.96%

 2020 = 133,057,122

 2021 = 151,634,618



Calculating the Millage Rate

City of Clarkston

Current Millage Rate 15.890

Proposed Millage Rate 14.557

Difference -1.333 mils

-8.4%

1 Mil = 252,195.79



Calculating the Millage Rate

City of Clarkston

FY 21 TAX REVENUE

Real Property, Public Utility, Personal Property, Motor Vehicle

ADOPTED BUDGET $3,770,384

PREL DIGEST AT 15.89 MILLS $4,007,391

PREL DIGEST AT 15.00 MILLS $3,783,937

PREL DIGEST AT 14.89 MILLS $3,755,195

PREL DIGEST AT 14.557MILLS $3,671,214



Millage Rate History

City of Clarkston

Fiscal Year Millage Rate

2011 14.00

2012 17.95

2013 17.95

2014 21.11

2015 17.11

2016 15.89

2017 15.89

2018 15.89

2019 15.89  

2020 15.89

2021 14.557 PROPOSED, ROLL BACK RATE



Proposed Millage Rates 

of DeKalb Cities

City of Clarkston

 Avondale Estates 9.8        (9.8)

 Brookhaven 2.74      (2.74)

 Chamblee 6.4 (6.25)

 Decatur 13.92    ()

 Doraville 10.451 (10.0)

 Dunwoody 2.74     (2.74)

 Lithonia 11.116  (11.116)

 Pine Lake 22.2 (21.53)

 Stone Mountain 22.0      (22.0)

 Clarkston (proposed) 15.89    (14.557)



Increase In Net Digest

DeKalb Cities

City of Clarkston

 Brookhaven $201.7 Million

 Chamblee $166.5 Million

 Decatur $101.5 Million

 Doraville $102.2   Million

 Dunwoody $473.1 Million

 Pine Lake $4.1 Million

 Lithonia $4.9 Million

 Stone Mountain $17.0 Million

 Avondale Estates $37.3    Million

 Clarkston $31.7 Million 



SO……

What does this mean for 

the taxpayer?

City of Clarkston



How are my taxes computed?

City of Clarkston

Appraised Value 75,000

Assessed Value 30,000

Taxable Value 30,000

Divided by 1,000 30

X Millage Rate 15.89 15.00       14.89      14.557

City Prop Tax:      $476.70 $450.00   $446.70    $436.71

(26.70)     (30.00)     (39.99)



How are my taxes computed?

City of Clarkston

Appraised Value 100,000

Assessed Value 40,000

Taxable Value 40,000

Divided by 1,000 40

X Millage Rate 15.89 15.00       14.89      14.557

City Prop Tax:      $635.60 $600.00   $595.60    $582.28

(35.60) (40.00)     (53.32)



How are my taxes computed?

City of Clarkston

Appraised Value 150,000

Assessed Value 60,000

Taxable Value 60,000

Divided by 1,000 60

X Millage Rate 15.89 15.00       14.89      14.557

City Prop Tax:      $953.40 $900.00   $893.40    $873.42

(53.40)      (60.00)     (79.98)



How are my taxes computed?

City of Clarkston

Appraised Value 200,000

Assessed Value 80,000

Taxable Value 80,000

Divided by 1,000 80

X Millage Rate 15.89 15.00       14.89        14.557

City Prop Tax:    $1,271.20   $1,200.00   $1,191.20    $1,164.56

(71.20)          (80.00) (106.64)



PUBLIC HEARING

QUESTIONS - COMMENTS

Thank you!

City of Clarkston



PT32.1 (revised April 2019)

COUNTY: TAXING JURISDICTION: 

REASSESSMENT OF OTHER CHANGES
EXISTING REAL PROP TO TAXABLE DIGEST

206,233,472 21,149,004 10,017,158 237,399,634
18,098,220 235,875 18,334,095

703,880 (107,340) 596,540
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0

225,035,572 21,149,004 10,145,693 256,330,269
4,509,094 (374,612) 4,134,482

220,526,478 21,149,004 10,520,305 252,195,787
(PYD) (RVA) (NAG) (CYD)

15.890 2021 MILLAGE RATE: 15.890

ABBREVIATION AMOUNT FORMULA
PYD 220,526,478
RVA 21,149,004
NAG 10,520,305
CYD 252,195,787 (PYD+RVA+NAG)

PYM 15.890 PYM
ME 1.333 (RVA/CYD) * PYM

RR - ROLLBACK RATE 14.557 PYM - ME

    Rollback Millage Rate 14.557
    2021 Millage Rate 15.890

    Percentage Tax Increase 9.16%

 Date

Date

              
                                                                                                                                             Title Date

     I hereby certify that the values shown above are an accurate representation of the digest values and exemption amounts for the applicable tax years.

     property for the tax year for which this rollback millage rate is being computed.

Rollback Millage Rate for 2021

taxes that is part of the notice required in O.C.G.A. § 48-5-32.1(c) (2)

PT-32.1 - Computation of MILLAGE RATE ROLLBACK AND PERCENTAGE INCREASE IN PROPERTY TAXES - 2021

DESCRIPTION

2020 Millage Rate

002-DEKALB Clarkston

Net Value Added-Reassessment of Existing Real Property
2020 Net Digest 

2021 DIGEST

2021 Net Digest

2020 DIGEST

 REAL

2020 MILLAGE RATE: 

ENTER VALUES AND MILLAGE RATES FOR THE APPLICABLE TAX YEARS IN YELLOW HIGHLIGHTED BOXES BELOW

 PERSONAL

 GROSS DIGEST
 EXEMPTIONS

CERTIFICATIONS

 NET DIGEST 

If the 2020 Proposed Millage Rate for this Taxing Jurisdiction exceeds Rollback Millage Rate
computed above, this section will automatically calculate the amount of increase in property 

Other Net Changes to Taxable Digest

DESCRIPTION

     I hereby certify that the above is a true and correct computation of the rollback millage rate in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 48-5-32.1 for the taxing
     jurisdiction for tax year 2021 and that the final millage rate set by the authority of this taxing jurisdiction for tax year 2021 is ___________

CALCULATION OF ROLLBACK RATE

Millage Equivalent of Reassessed Value Added

CALCULATION OF PERCENTAGE INCREASE IN PROPERTY TAXES

I hereby certify that the amount indicated above is an accurate accounting of the total net assessed value added by the reassessment of existing real

Chairman, Board of Tax Assessors

Tax Collector or Tax Commissioner

 MOTOR VEHICLES
 MOBILE HOMES
 TIMBER -100%

 HEAVY DUTY EQUIP

Responsible Party

CHECK THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH BELOW THAT APPLIES TO THIS TAXING JURISDICTION

If the final millage rate set by the authority of the taxing jurisdiction for tax year 2021 exceeds the rollback rate, I certify that the required 
advertisements, notices, and public hearings have been conducted in accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 48-5-32 and 48-5-32.1 as evidenced by
the attached copies of the published "five year history and current digest" advertisement and the "Notice of Intent to Increase Taxes" showing
the times and places when and where the required public hearings were held, and a copy of the press release provided to the local media. 

If the final millage rate set by the authority of the taxing jurisdiction for tax year 2021 does not exceed the rollback rate, I certify that
the required "five year history and current digest" advertisement has been published in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 48-5-32 as evidenced
by the attached copy of such advertised report.



Property Tax Digest 5/25/2021 
PRELIM DIGEST REPORT

FINAL 
07/28/2020

PRELIM 
05/25/2021 Change

2020 2021 % 2021 % of Tax

311190 - Other 
Real Property 

Tax

311110 - 
Public Utility 

Prop Tax

311390 - 
Personal 

Property Tax

311310 - 
Motor 

Vehicle Tax Total Revenue
40% Value 40% Value vs. 2020 Digest

RESIDENTIAL
R1-Improvements 42,511,875    51,815,392    21.88% 823,347$           823,347$           
R3-Lots 16,545,197    18,790,317    13.57% 298,578$           298,578$           
R4-Small Tracts 39,960           78,800           97.20% 1,252$               1,252$               
R5-Large Tracts -                     -                     -$                       
RB-Boats 3,808             -                     -100.00% -$                     -$                       
Residential 59,100,840    70,684,509    19.60% 27.6% 1,123,177$        -$                   -$                     -$                1,123,177$        

COMMERCIAL
C1-Improvements 93,101,403    111,915,784  20.21% 1,778,342$        1,778,342$        
C3-Lots 7,781,264      7,839,502      0.75% 124,570$           124,570$           
C4-Small Tracts 18,490,169    17,936,401    -2.99% 285,009$           285,009$           
C5-Large Tracts 6,580,300      6,972,740      5.96% 110,797$           110,797$           
CF-Furn/Fixt/Eqpt 3,044,900      3,425,097      12.49% 54,425$            54,425$             
CI-Inventory 3,671,843      3,382,054      -7.89% 53,741$            53,741$             
CP-Freeport Inventory 387,243         163,040         2,591$              2,591$               
Commercial 133,057,122  151,634,618  13.96% 59.2% 2,298,718$        -$                   110,756$          -$                2,409,474$        

INDUSTRIAL
I1-Improvements 14,456,640    16,712,726    15.61% 265,565$           265,565$           
I3-Lots 2,725,636      2,060,711      -24.40% 32,745$             32,745$             
I4-Small Tracts 4,001,028      3,277,261      -18.09% 52,076$             52,076$             
IF-Furn/Fixt/Eqpt 2,670,558      2,717,215      43,177$            43,177$             
II-Inventory 104,777         133,336         2,119$              2,119$               
IP-Freeport Inventory 2,142,086      1,922,758      30,553$            30,553$             
Industrial 26,100,725    26,824,007    2.77% 10.5% 350,386$           -$                   75,848$            -$                426,233$           

UTILITY 6,073,005      6,590,595      8.52% 2.6% 104,725$       104,725$           
MOTOR VEHICLE 703,880         596,540         0.2% 9,479$        9,479$               
Gross Digest 225,035,572  256,330,269  13.91% 100.0% 3,772,280$        104,725$       186,604$          9,479$        4,073,088$        

Exemptions:
M1-City Homestead 4,509,094      4,134,482      (65,697)$            (65,697)$            
Total Exemptions 4,509,094      4,134,482      2021 PRELIM DIGEST 3,706,583$        104,725$       186,604$          9,479$        4,007,391$        

2021 BUDGET 3,351,801$        113,431$       177,311$          127,841$    3,770,384$        
Net Digest 220,526,478  252,195,787  2020 ACTUAL REV 2,897,322$        104,725$       141,522$          148,898$    3,292,467$        

Net Adjusted Digest 220,526,478  252,195,787  14.36%

APPEALS -                     -                     
Net Adjusted Digest at Billing 220,526,478  252,195,787  

ESTIMATED PROPERTY TAX REVENUES
15.89

15.89 mils for 2020 3,504,166$    
15.89 mils for 2021 4,007,391$    

$$$$ revenue per mil 220,526$       252,196$       

Final Budgeted Revenue -$                   3,770,384$    
Final Actual Revenue 2,878,101      
Projected Budget Shortfall -$                   237,007$       

Final Millage Rate 15.89 15.89

Revenue Categories



Property Tax Digest 5/25/2021 
PRELIM DIGEST REPORT

FINAL 
07/28/2020

PRELIM 
05/25/2021 Change

2020 2021 % 2021 % of Tax

311190 - Other 
Real Property 

Tax

311110 - 
Public Utility 

Prop Tax

311390 - 
Personal 

Property Tax

311310 - 
Motor 

Vehicle Tax Total Revenue
40% Value 40% Value vs. 2020 Digest

RESIDENTIAL
R1-Improvements 42,511,875    51,815,392    21.88% 754,277$           754,277$           
R3-Lots 16,545,197    18,790,317    13.57% 273,531$           273,531$           
R4-Small Tracts 39,960           78,800           97.20% 1,147$               1,147$               
R5-Large Tracts -                     -                     -$                       
RB-Boats 3,808             -                     -100.00% -$                     -$                       
Residential 59,100,840    70,684,509    19.60% 27.6% 1,028,954$        -$                   -$                     -$                1,028,954$        

COMMERCIAL
C1-Improvements 93,101,403    111,915,784  20.21% 1,629,158$        1,629,158$        
C3-Lots 7,781,264      7,839,502      0.75% 114,120$           114,120$           
C4-Small Tracts 18,490,169    17,936,401    -2.99% 261,100$           261,100$           
C5-Large Tracts 6,580,300      6,972,740      5.96% 101,502$           101,502$           
CF-Furn/Fixt/Eqpt 3,044,900      3,425,097      12.49% 49,859$            49,859$             
CI-Inventory 3,671,843      3,382,054      -7.89% 49,233$            49,233$             
CP-Freeport Inventory 387,243         163,040         2,373$              2,373$               
Commercial 133,057,122  151,634,618  13.96% 59.2% 2,105,880$        -$                   101,465$          -$                2,207,345$        

INDUSTRIAL
I1-Improvements 14,456,640    16,712,726    15.61% 243,287$           243,287$           
I3-Lots 2,725,636      2,060,711      -24.40% 29,998$             29,998$             
I4-Small Tracts 4,001,028      3,277,261      -18.09% 47,707$             47,707$             
IF-Furn/Fixt/Eqpt 2,670,558      2,717,215      39,554$            39,554$             
II-Inventory 104,777         133,336         1,941$              1,941$               
IP-Freeport Inventory 2,142,086      1,922,758      27,990$            27,990$             
Industrial 26,100,725    26,824,007    2.77% 10.5% 320,992$           -$                   69,485$            -$                390,477$           

UTILITY 6,073,005      6,590,595      8.52% 2.6% 95,939$         95,939$             
MOTOR VEHICLE 703,880         596,540         0.2% 8,684$        8,684$               
Gross Digest 225,035,572  256,330,269  13.91% 100.0% 3,455,826$        95,939$         170,950$          8,684$        3,731,400$        

Exemptions:
M1-City Homestead 4,509,094      4,134,482      (60,186)$            (60,186)$            
Total Exemptions 4,509,094      4,134,482      2021 PRELIM DIGEST 3,395,641$        95,939$         170,950$          8,684$        3,671,214$        

2021 BUDGET 3,351,801$        113,431$       177,311$          127,841$    3,770,384$        
Net Digest 220,526,478  252,195,787  2020 ACTUAL REV 2,897,322$        104,725$       141,522$          148,898$    3,292,467$        

Net Adjusted Digest 220,526,478  252,195,787  14.36%

APPEALS -                     -                     
Net Adjusted Digest at Billing 220,526,478  252,195,787  

ESTIMATED PROPERTY TAX REVENUES
15.89

15.89 mils for 2020 3,504,166$    
15.89 mils for 2021 4,007,391$    

$$$$ revenue per mil 220,526$       252,196$       

Final Budgeted Revenue -$                   3,770,384$    
Final Actual Revenue 2,878,101      
Projected Budget Shortfall -$                   (99,170)$        

Final Millage Rate 15.89 14.557

Revenue Categories



Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: June 29, 2021 

SUBJECT: Reschedule the August City Council Meetings. 

 

 
 

PURPOSE:  For the Council to consider rescheduling the August 5th Council Meeting to Wednesday, 
August 4, 2021. 

NEED/ IMPACT:   
The August Council Meeting conflicts with the new schedule for the GMA Annual Convention.  Re-
scheduling this meeting to Wednesday, August 4th,  (OR MONDAY August 2 to not conflict with 
Wednesday Court) will allow the elected officials participation in the Council meeting and travel to the 
GMA Convention. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends that the Council approve rescheduling the August 5th Council 
Meeting to either Monday, August 2 or Wednesday, August 4, 2021.  

ITEM NO: G2 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHEMENT: YES NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489  



Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: June 29, 2021 

SUBJECT:  Issue Election Call and Set Qualifying Period for the November 2, 2021 General Election 

 

 
 

PURPOSE:  
To Issue the Election Call and to set the qualifying period for the November 2, 2021 General Election 

 NEED/ IMPACT:   O.C.G.A 21-2-132 (d) (4) defines that “Each candidate for municipal office or a 
designee shall file a notice of candidacy in the office of the municipal superintendent of such candidate's 
municipality during the municipality's qualifying period. Each municipal superintendent shall designate 
the days of the qualifying period, which shall be no less than three days and no more than five days. The 
days of the qualifying period shall be consecutive days. Qualifying periods shall commence no earlier 
than 8:30 A.M. and shall end no later than 4:30 P.M. 

O.C.G.A 21-2-132 (d) (5) (B)(ii) clarifies that “The hours of qualifying each day shall be from 8:30 A.M.
until 4:30 P.M. with one hour allowed for the lunch break; provided, however, that municipalities which
have normal business hours which cover a lesser period of time shall conduct qualifying during normal
business hours for each such municipality.”

RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff recommends Issuing the Call for the November 2, 2021 General Election and 
to set the qualifying period for the General Election for three (3) days from Monday, August 16, 2021 
until Wednesday, August 18, 2021, starting at 8:30am to 4:30pm (daily), except during a daily lunch 
break from 12:00pm -1:00pm. 

ITEM NO: G3 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: June 29, 2021 
SUBJECT: Conditional use permit request for the property located at 1353 Brockett Road Ste. B-1 

PURPOSE: A request from Mohommad Bilal Khattak for a conditional use permit for the property 
located at 1353 Brockett Road, Ste. B-1  zoned NC-2 Moderate Density Neighborhood Commercial, 
Clarkston, GA 30021, for a coin laundromat. 

NEED/ IMPACT:  

A conditional use permit application request shall be heard at public hearings to determine whether 
or not the applicants proposed conditional use would generally be in the public interest. In 
considering whether a proposed conditional use is in the public interest, the mayor and city council 
shall consider the following, among other relevant factors: (1) Whether the conditional use would be 
injurious to the use and enjoyment of the environment or of other property in the immediate vicinity 
or diminish and impair property values within the surrounding neighborhood; (2) Whether the 
proposed conditional use would increase local or state expenditures in relation to cost of servicing or 
maintaining neighboring properties; (3) Whether the establishment of the conditional use would 
impede the normal and orderly development of surrounding property for uses predominant in the 
area; and  (4) Whether the location and character of the proposed conditional use would be consistent 
with a desirable pattern of development for the locality in general.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Staff recommends CONDITIONALLY APPROVING the conditional use permit request for a coin 
laundromat with the following 5 conditions. 

1. The business shall only be limited to operating and offering services as a coin laundromat.
2. There shall be no long term or overnight parking.
3. The owner/tenant shall adhere to Sections 12-20 Disorderly Conduct and 12-28 Noise.
4. The business shall not emit noise, vibrations, smoke, gas, fumes, or odors that would be a

nuisance to the adjacent properties.
5. The recommended hours of operation are 7AM to 7PM, Sunday-Saturday.

PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATIONS: 06/15/2021 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommended conditionally approving the CUP with staff’s five (5) 
recommendations including four (4) additional conditions. 
(6) No alcohol shall be served or available on the premises.
(7) No coin operated amusement machines shall be installed.
(8) All installed machines shall be new.
(9)The applicant is only allowed to install vending, detergent, and change (coin) machines.

ITEM NO: 

ACTION TYPE: HEARING TYPE: 
  

Public Hearing 6/29 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning/Economic and Development 

ATTACHMENTS: YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, MSCM, MPA 
Planning/Economic and Development 
Director PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489 

G4

Resolution



    
 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD 
MEETING 

MINUTES 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

   AGENDA 

  June 15, 2021, 7:00 PM     
TELECONFERENCE 
       Call in Number: 
          404. 902. 5066 
          Call in Code: 
                326629 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 7:04PM 
 

B. ROLL CALL: Chair Charles McFarland, Vice Chair Felicia Weinert, Birendra Dhakal, Lisa 
Williams, Susan Hood 

 
C. APPROVAL OF APRIL 2021 MEETING MINUTES: Charles McFarland called for a 

motion to approve the April 2021 meeting minutes. Lisa Williams made a motion to approve, 
Felicia Weinert seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 

 
D. NEW BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: A conditional use permit request from Mohammad Bilal Khattak for the 
property located at 1353 Brockett Road, Suite B-1, Clarkston, Georgia 30021, zoned NC-2, 
Moderate Density Neighborhood Commercial for a  laundromat. 
 
PED Director Qawiy gave an overview of the conditional use permit request for 1353 
Brockett Road, Suite B-1 and introduced the applicant Mr. Mohammad Khattak. 
Charles McFarland asked for questions from the Board members for the applicant. Birendra 
Dhakal asked the applicant whether his establishment will be use eco-friendly detergents. 
Mr. Khattak responded that he would limit his use of detergents to Tide and Gain.  
 
Felicia Weinert asked the applicant about his recent approval for a conditional use permit 
for a coin laundromat at 1051 Montreal Road. Mr. Khattak stated in summary there were  
landlord issues. Ms. Weinert asked him to confirm whether or not he will encounter 
landlord issues at the present location. Mr. Khattak confirmed there would not be any issues 
with the current landlord.  
 
Charles McFarland asked the applicant did he have any issues with the staff’s 
recommended hours of operation of 7AM-7PM Sunday-Saturday.  Mr. Khattak did not 
have any issues with the hours.   Ms. Weinert stated that the recommended hours of 
operation were recommended for safety of the patrons of the business. Mr. Khattak stated 
that he will lock the doors of the business at 7PM each day. 
 



Susan Hood asked the applicant whether he is considering coin operated amusement 
machines(COAM) in the establishment.  Mr. Khattak stated that he was contemplating the 
matter and understands that COAM machines attracts a different  type of traffic.  He stated 
that the final answer would be not to install COAM machines. Ms. Hood stated that she 
would add this as a condition to the list of staff’s conditions to not allow COAM at this 
location. Mr. Khattak agreed.  
 
Lisa Williams asked whether the applicant will use eco-friendly detergent and install 
energy saving machines and not used machines.  Mr. Khattak stated that he will install all 
new machines that include LED lights.  
 
Birendra Dhakal asked about parking. Mr. Khattak stated that the landlord will designate 
8 spaces in front of the business and share the additional 2 in the parking lot area.  
 
With no further questions from the Board, Charles McFarland opened the public hearing.   
 
Dean Moore stated that no alcohol should be served or available on the premises and asked 
to include the request in the conditions.  
 
With no additional speakers or questions the public hearing was closed by Chairman 
McFarland.  
 
Chairman McFarland asked for a motion. Susan Hood made the motion to approve the 
conditional use permit request with the five (5) listed conditions from staff and to include 
(6) No alcohol shall be served or available on the premises, (7) No coin operated 
amusement machines shall be installed, (8) All installed machines shall be new,  and (9)The 
applicant is only allowed to install  vending, detergent and change (coin) machines. 
Birendra Dhakal seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 
 
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING: Variance requests from William R. Braswell Jr.  of Oak Hall Companies, 
LLC for the property located at 3809 East Avenue, Clarkston,  Georgia 30021,  zoned NR-3 High 
Density Neighborhood Residential to “install ornamental trees in lieu of shade trees for solar 
panels”  and to encroach into the front yard setback an additional 5 feet on lots 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 
13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, and 30.  

          
             PED Director gave an overview of the variance requests for 3809 East Avenue and 

 introduced the applicant Mr. Tad Braswell.   
 
Lisa Williams asked a question related to the request to install ornamental trees in lieu of 
shade trees.  Ms. Williams stated that with the current 24 conditions on the property 
condition #5 states that all homes will be wired to be electric and solar ready. Ms. Williams 
asked the applicant to confirm the lots solar ratings. Mr. Braswell stated that solar ratings 
on the lots have not yet been established.  
 
Susan Hood referenced the applicants statement that he would prefer to plant crepe myrtles 
as the ornamental trees.  Ms. Hood stated that crepe myrtles are not native trees, but red 
bud trees are native trees.  
 
Ms. Weinert asked about the size of the proposed homes at a minimum of 1200 sq. ft.  Mr. 
Braswell stated that the minimum size home will be 1800 square feet.   
 



Susan Hood asked whether the homes will be constructed with carports or garages. Mr. 
Braswell stated that lots 7-30 will have garages while the exterior lots will have carports. 
Ms. Hood made a reference to condition #19 that every home shall have a minimum of one 
visitor parking space to be located behind each home’s carport.  Mr. Braswell stated that 
he is requesting an additional 5 feet encroachment since the city ordinance allows a 3’ 
encroachment for porches.  Parking will be located between the garage and the alley.  
 
Birendra Dhakal asked whether the variance requests are due to an undue hardship.  
 
Lisa Williams stated that the requests should be based on the variance criteria points.  
 
Susan Hood stated that the applicant has not been met the criteria points which does not 
warrant approval of the variance requests.  
 
With no further questions from the Board, Charles McFarland opened the public hearing.   
 
Dean Moore stated that there are six ( 6) criteria for variance requests and any hardships 
created will be created/have been created by the applicant.  
 
Amy Medford referred to the shade trees. She stated that the lots need to be rated to 
determine solar readiness.  Ms. Medford stated that the applicant should continue as 
approved and keep the current condition on the trees. A homeowner will have the option 
in the future to cut back the trees if applicable if growth should  interfere with the installed 
solar panels.  Ms. Medford also stated that there should not be any additional variance 
requests for the lots.  
 
With no additional speakers or questions the public hearing was closed by Chairman 
McFarland.  
 
Chairman McFarland asked for a motion. Lisa Williams made the motion to deny the 
variance requests.   Susan Hood seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 

 
 

E. OTHER BUSINESS 
1. DISCUSSION: Zoning Code Update 

Lauren Blaszyk of POND and Company gave a status overview of the Zoning Rewrite 
and next steps. Open houses are scheduled for July 13th 9AM to 1PM-  and July 14th 
5PM to 8PM at the Clarkston Women’s Club. The technical advisory committee will 
meet in person following social distancing protocol at the Clarkston Community 
Center August 10th . 
Charles McFarland asked about public engagement and how the public is being 
informed about the zoning rewrite project.  
M.s Blaszyk stated that the team has posted on all City social media outlets, posted 
25-yard signs and attended events in the City to distribute information flyers.  
Dean Moore asked for the zoning rewrite website address. It was given by Lauren 
Blaszyk as www. planningatpond.com/Clarkston-zoning-ordinance-rewrite.   
 
Amy Medford made reference to translation services for non-English speaking 
residents. PED Director Qawiy made reference that a minor tweaking of the site should 
include requests for translations services if requested.  Director Qawiy also made 
reference to the June 22nd Mayor and Council work session that will include a power 
point presentation from the consultant team.  



 
 

F. ADJOURNMENT : Chairman McFarland called for a motion to adjourn. Lisa Williams made 
the motion to adjourn, Felicia Weinert seconded the motion, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 
Meeting adjourned at 8:37PM. 





































































BUSINESS AGENDA / 

MINUTES MEETING DATE: 

June 29, 2021 
SUBJECT: Variance requests for the property located at 3809 East Avenue, Clarkston, Ga. 

PURPOSE: A request from Tad Braswell for variance requests to install ornamental trees in lieu 
of shade trees for solar panels and to encroach into the front yard setback an additional 5 feet on 
lots 7-30.  

NEED/ IMPACT:   
A variance request from the terms of the ordinance must not be contrary to the public and must be 
evaluated based on the 6 criteria points. A variance may be granted in an individual case of 
unnecessary hardship upon a finding by the city council that all of the following conditions exist: 
1. There are extraordinary and exceptional conditions pertaining to the particular piece of

property in question because of its size, shape, or topography.
2. Such conditions are peculiar to the particular piece of property involved.
3. Such conditions are not the result of the actions of the applicant.
4. A literal interpretation of the provisions of this ordinance would create an unnecessary

hardship.
5. The variance requested will not cause substantial detriment to the public good nor impair the

purposes or intent of the zoning ordinance.
6. The variance is not a request to permit a structure or use of land not authorized in the

applicable district.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends denying the variance requests. 

PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD RECOMMENDATION: 06/15/2021 
The Planning and Zoning Board recommends denying the variance requests.  

ACTION TYPE: HEARING TYPE: 

    PH: 6/29/21 

DEPARTMENT: 
 Planning/Economic  & 
Development 

ATTACHMENTS:  YES   NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES     NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   
Shawanna Qawiy, Planning Economic  and 
Dev. Director 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

CITY OF CLARKSTON       ITEM NO: G5 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING       



    
 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD 
MEETING 

MINUTES 
 
 

 
 

  
 

 

   AGENDA 

  June 15, 2021, 7:00 PM     
TELECONFERENCE 
       Call in Number: 
          404. 902. 5066 
          Call in Code: 
                326629 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER: The meeting was called to order at 7:04PM 
 

B. ROLL CALL: Chair Charles McFarland, Vice Chair Felicia Weinert, Birendra Dhakal, Lisa 
Williams, Susan Hood 

 
C. APPROVAL OF APRIL 2021 MEETING MINUTES: Charles McFarland called for a 

motion to approve the April 2021 meeting minutes. Lisa Williams made a motion to approve, 
Felicia Weinert seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 

 
D. NEW BUSINESS 

1. PUBLIC HEARING: A conditional use permit request from Mohammad Bilal Khattak for the 
property located at 1353 Brockett Road, Suite B-1, Clarkston, Georgia 30021, zoned NC-2, 
Moderate Density Neighborhood Commercial for a  laundromat. 
 
PED Director Qawiy gave an overview of the conditional use permit request for 1353 
Brockett Road, Suite B-1 and introduced the applicant Mr. Mohammad Khattak. 
Charles McFarland asked for questions from the Board members for the applicant. Birendra 
Dhakal asked the applicant whether his establishment will be use eco-friendly detergents. 
Mr. Khattak responded that he would limit his use of detergents to Tide and Gain.  
 
Felicia Weinert asked the applicant about his recent approval for a conditional use permit 
for a coin laundromat at 1051 Montreal Road. Mr. Khattak stated in summary there were  
landlord issues. Ms. Weinert asked him to confirm whether or not he will encounter 
landlord issues at the present location. Mr. Khattak confirmed there would not be any issues 
with the current landlord.  
 
Charles McFarland asked the applicant did he have any issues with the staff’s 
recommended hours of operation of 7AM-7PM Sunday-Saturday.  Mr. Khattak did not 
have any issues with the hours.   Ms. Weinert stated that the recommended hours of 
operation were recommended for safety of the patrons of the business. Mr. Khattak stated 
that he will lock the doors of the business at 7PM each day. 
 



Susan Hood asked the applicant whether he is considering coin operated amusement 
machines(COAM) in the establishment.  Mr. Khattak stated that he was contemplating the 
matter and understands that COAM machines attracts a different  type of traffic.  He stated 
that the final answer would be not to install COAM machines. Ms. Hood stated that she 
would add this as a condition to the list of staff’s conditions to not allow COAM at this 
location. Mr. Khattak agreed.  
 
Lisa Williams asked whether the applicant will use eco-friendly detergent and install 
energy saving machines and not used machines.  Mr. Khattak stated that he will install all 
new machines that include LED lights.  
 
Birendra Dhakal asked about parking. Mr. Khattak stated that the landlord will designate 
8 spaces in front of the business and share the additional 2 in the parking lot area.  
 
With no further questions from the Board, Charles McFarland opened the public hearing.   
 
Dean Moore stated that no alcohol should be served or available on the premises and asked 
to include the request in the conditions.  
 
With no additional speakers or questions the public hearing was closed by Chairman 
McFarland.  
 
Chairman McFarland asked for a motion. Susan Hood made the motion to approve the 
conditional use permit request with the five (5) listed conditions from staff and to include 
(6) No alcohol shall be served or available on the premises, (7) No coin operated 
amusement machines shall be installed, (8) All installed machines shall be new,  and (9)The 
applicant is only allowed to install  vending, detergent and change (coin) machines. 
Birendra Dhakal seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 
 
 

2. PUBLIC HEARING: Variance requests from William R. Braswell Jr.  of Oak Hall Companies, 
LLC for the property located at 3809 East Avenue, Clarkston,  Georgia 30021,  zoned NR-3 High 
Density Neighborhood Residential to “install ornamental trees in lieu of shade trees for solar 
panels”  and to encroach into the front yard setback an additional 5 feet on lots 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 
13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, and 30.  

          
             PED Director gave an overview of the variance requests for 3809 East Avenue and 

 introduced the applicant Mr. Tad Braswell.   
 
Lisa Williams asked a question related to the request to install ornamental trees in lieu of 
shade trees.  Ms. Williams stated that with the current 24 conditions on the property 
condition #5 states that all homes will be wired to be electric and solar ready. Ms. Williams 
asked the applicant to confirm the lots solar ratings. Mr. Braswell stated that solar ratings 
on the lots have not yet been established.  
 
Susan Hood referenced the applicants statement that he would prefer to plant crepe myrtles 
as the ornamental trees.  Ms. Hood stated that crepe myrtles are not native trees, but red 
bud trees are native trees.  
 
Ms. Weinert asked about the size of the proposed homes at a minimum of 1200 sq. ft.  Mr. 
Braswell stated that the minimum size home will be 1800 square feet.   
 



Susan Hood asked whether the homes will be constructed with carports or garages. Mr. 
Braswell stated that lots 7-30 will have garages while the exterior lots will have carports. 
Ms. Hood made a reference to condition #19 that every home shall have a minimum of one 
visitor parking space to be located behind each home’s carport.  Mr. Braswell stated that 
he is requesting an additional 5 feet encroachment since the city ordinance allows a 3’ 
encroachment for porches.  Parking will be located between the garage and the alley.  
 
Birendra Dhakal asked whether the variance requests are due to an undue hardship.  
 
Lisa Williams stated that the requests should be based on the variance criteria points.  
 
Susan Hood stated that the applicant has not been met the criteria points which does not 
warrant approval of the variance requests.  
 
With no further questions from the Board, Charles McFarland opened the public hearing.   
 
Dean Moore stated that there are six ( 6) criteria for variance requests and any hardships 
created will be created/have been created by the applicant.  
 
Amy Medford referred to the shade trees. She stated that the lots need to be rated to 
determine solar readiness.  Ms. Medford stated that the applicant should continue as 
approved and keep the current condition on the trees. A homeowner will have the option 
in the future to cut back the trees if applicable if growth should  interfere with the installed 
solar panels.  Ms. Medford also stated that there should not be any additional variance 
requests for the lots.  
 
With no additional speakers or questions the public hearing was closed by Chairman 
McFarland.  
 
Chairman McFarland asked for a motion. Lisa Williams made the motion to deny the 
variance requests.   Susan Hood seconded, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 

 
 

E. OTHER BUSINESS 
1. DISCUSSION: Zoning Code Update 

Lauren Blaszyk of POND and Company gave a status overview of the Zoning Rewrite 
and next steps. Open houses are scheduled for July 13th 9AM to 1PM-  and July 14th 
5PM to 8PM at the Clarkston Women’s Club. The technical advisory committee will 
meet in person following social distancing protocol at the Clarkston Community 
Center August 10th . 
Charles McFarland asked about public engagement and how the public is being 
informed about the zoning rewrite project.  
M.s Blaszyk stated that the team has posted on all City social media outlets, posted 
25-yard signs and attended events in the City to distribute information flyers.  
Dean Moore asked for the zoning rewrite website address. It was given by Lauren 
Blaszyk as www. planningatpond.com/Clarkston-zoning-ordinance-rewrite.   
 
Amy Medford made reference to translation services for non-English speaking 
residents. PED Director Qawiy made reference that a minor tweaking of the site should 
include requests for translations services if requested.  Director Qawiy also made 
reference to the June 22nd Mayor and Council work session that will include a power 
point presentation from the consultant team.  



 
 

F. ADJOURNMENT : Chairman McFarland called for a motion to adjourn. Lisa Williams made 
the motion to adjourn, Felicia Weinert seconded the motion, and the motion passed 5/0/0. 
Meeting adjourned at 8:37PM. 













































CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: JUNE 29, 2021 

SUBJECT:  Approve SPLOST Project 04-B+C TRAILHEAD/MELL AVE/ROWLAND ST Temporary Easement 
Agreements 

PURPOSE:   

Approve SPLOST Project 04-B+C TRAILHEAD/MELL AVE/ROWLAND ST Temporary Easement Agreements 
for construction work on properties on Rowland St.  

NEED/IMPACT: 

Per the City’s approved SPLOST Project 04-B+C the Trailhead/Mell Ave/Rowland St street improvements 
that will include milling, asphalting, road diets, easabouts, sidewalks, etc., we have obtained approvals 
from five (5) private property owners to work partially on their driveway or similar areas to complete said 
work.   

These are non-compensatory easements at driveways for driveway reconstruction purposes (working 
outside city ROW), to match up with the street work.  Easements disappear after construction is complete. 
Contractor will work within ROW where we can, but will end up performing some work on the private 
property area mainly driveways.    

The parcel numbers are as follows: 

18 066 03 002 851 Rowland St 
18 066 03 003 855 Rowland St 
18 066 03 006 847 Rowland St 
18 066 03 008 835 Rowland St 
18 066 03 004 863 Rowland St 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve five (5) temporary easement agreements.  

ITEM NO: G6 

ACTION TYPE: 
PRESENTATION HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:    YES   NO 
Pages:  10 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ 

PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683   























Page 1 of 3 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES MEETING 

DATE: June 29, 2021 

SUBJECT: Consider an  Intergovernmental Agreement with DeKalb County to re-establish the 
DeKalb Regional Land Bank Authority.   

 

 
 

PURPOSE:  
To consider approving the attached standard intergovernmental agreement to re-establish the 
DeKalb Regional Land Bank Authority pursuant to the Official Code of Georgia Annotated section 48-
4-60 et seq., with the City of Lithonia and Clarkston, contingent upon the City of Clarkston’s governing
authority to participate, and authorizing the Chief Executive Officer to execute all necessary
documents.

NEED/ IMPACT: 

DeKalb County in 2010 engaged in a comprehensive study on workforce housing. That report 
produced a major recommendation to establish a land bank in DeKalb County because at the time 
DeKalb County suffered a fallout of the housing crises, with a large stock of vacant, abandoned and 
derelict properties.  Such properties present a public safety issue as it attracts crime and vandalism, 
brings nearby property values down and leads to further blight and unnecessary loss of otherwise 
decent, affordable housing.  A DeKalb Regional Land Bank was established in 2011; however, became 
defunct after the City of Decatur pulled out.  There is still a need to mitigate blighted properties and 
bring vacant properties back onto the tax roll.   

Local Jurisdictions in Georgia are authorized to establish land banks pursuant to the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated section 48-4-60 et seq.  Local jurisdictions establish land banks by adopting an 
intergovernmental agreement between the County and at least one municipality.   

All municipalities within DeKalb County are welcome to join.  On July 2, 2019, the City Council adopted 
the following Resolution 2019-17 reaffirming its commitment to participate in the DeKalb County Land 
Bank.   

However in the City’s review of the proposed IGA we noted a few concerns to DeKalb County that 
were left out of the final IGA, specifically:  

ITEM NO: G7 

ACTION TYPE: 
AgreementHEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHEMENT: YES  NO 
Pages:   

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683  



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
1. The Board is set up so that DeKalb County appointees always control a majority of the board 

with two more members than all cities combined (just one member is allowed per city); 
2. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, the Land Bank can void any City liens placed on real 

property that the Land Bank acquires; 
3. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, it agrees to maintain the exterior (lawn, vegetation, 

removing junk and debris, etc.) of any property acquired by the Land Bank that is located 
within Clarkston; 

4. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, 75% of the City’s share of real property tax from Land Bank 
owned property is paid to the Land Bank rather than the City for the first five years of the 
Land Bank owning the property. 

5. If Clarkston joins the Land Bank, it commits to make “in kind” contributions to the Land Bank 
such as meeting space and office supplies. 

A copy of the IGA is enclosed beginning on page 4.   



Page 3 of 3 
 

 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

 

 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONTRACT 
 

BETWEEN 
 

DEKALB COUNTY 
 

AND 
 

CITY OF LITHONIA 
 

CREATING THE 

DEKALB REGIONAL LAND BANK AUTHORITY 
(a Georgia public body corporate and politic) 

 
 

PREAMBLE 
 

 This Intergovernmental Contract is made and entered into this _____ day of 
____________, 2019 (“Contract”) under Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution 
of the State of Georgia, and Sections 36-34-2(5) and 48-4-100 et seq. of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, between DeKalb County and the City of Lithonia (herein collectively referred 
to as the “Parties”) for the purpose of establishing and adding to the members of the DeKalb 
Regional Land Bank Authority, a separate legal entity and public body corporate to administer and 
implement the purposes and objectives of this Contract. 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, in enacting Section 48-4-100et seq. of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated 
(hereinafter the “Land Bank Act”), the Georgia General Assembly found that there exists in the 
State of Georgia a continuing need to strengthen and revitalize the economy of the State of Georgia 
and the local units of government in this State to assemble or dispose of public property, including 
dilapidated, abandoned and tax delinquent property, in a coordinated manner to foster the 
development of that property and to promote economic growth in the State of Georgia; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Land Bank Act permits any county or counties and at least one city located 
in each participating county to enter into an intergovernmental contract establishing a land bank, 
the purpose of which would be to acquire tax delinquent and other properties in order to foster the 
public purpose of returning property which is nonrevenue generating and nontax producing to an 
effective utilization status in order to provide housing, new industry and jobs for the citizens of 
the State of Georgia; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties herein agree that the establishment of a land bank as composed 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

herein would be beneficial to the citizens and the Parties;  
 
 WHEREAS, the authority for the Parties to enter into this Contract is Article IX, Section 
III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of Georgia, which authorizes intergovernmental 
contracts for up to fifty (50) years for the provision of services or uses of property not otherwise 
prohibited by law, and the provisions of the Land Bank Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties want to create the DeKalb Regional Land Bank Authority as a 
public body corporate and politic within the State of Georgia to exercise the powers, duties, 
functions, and responsibilities of a land bank under the Land Bank Act.   
 
 Accordingly, the Parties agree to the following: 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 As used in this Contract the following terms shall have the meanings provided in this 
Article. 
 
 Section 1.01. “Board of Directors” or “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Land 
Bank Authority. 
 
 Section 1.02.  “City Properties” means Real Property located within the boundaries of 
any city that is, or subsequent to the Effective Date becomes, a Party to this Contract. 
 
 Section 1.03. “Contract” means this intergovernmental contract between the Parties. 
 
 Section 1.04.  “County Properties” means Real Property located within DeKalb County 
but outside the boundaries of any city that is, or subsequent to the Effective Date becomes, a Party 
to this Contract. 
 
 Section 1.05. “DeKalb County Board Member” means a then acting member of the 
Board of Directors who was appointed by the governing authority of DeKalb County. 
 
 Section 1.06. “Effective Date” means the date upon which all of the following are 
satisfied: 
 
 (a) the Contract is approved by official  action of the governing authority of DeKalb 
County; and 
 
 (b) the Contract is approved by official action of the governing authority of the City of 
Lithonia.  
 
 Section 1.07. “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Land Bank, which shall begin on 
January 1st of each year and end on the following December 31st. 
 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

 Section 1.08. “Land Bank Act” means Section 48-4-100 et seq. of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated as it exists on the Effective Date, and as it may be hereafter amended or 
replaced, subject to the provisions of Section 10.11 of this Contract. 
 
 Section 1.09. “Land Bank” means the public body corporate and politic established 
pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of this Contract and known as the DeKalb 
Regional Land Bank Authority. 
 
 Section 1.10. “Party” or “Parties” means either individually or collectively, as applicable, 
DeKalb County and/or the City of Lithonia, as each is a signatory to this Contract, and any other 
city, county or consolidated government that becomes a Party to this Contract after the Effective 
Date. 
 
 Section 1.11. “Person” means an individual, authority, limited liability company, 
partnership, firm, corporation, organization, association, joint venture, trust, governmental entity 
or other legal entity. 
 
 Section 1.12. “Quorum” means:  
 
 (i) With respect to administrative action, the presence of the greater of a simple 
majority of the entire Board membership;   
 
 (ii) With respect to action concerning County Properties, the presence of three (3) 
Members of the Board, two (2) representing DeKalb County and one (1) representing any city that 
is, or subsequent to the Effective Date becomes, a Party to this Contract.  No action may be taken 
by the Land Bank concerning a property located within DeKalb County but outside the boundaries 
of any city that is, or subsequent to the Effective Date becomes, a Party to this Contract unless the 
action is approved by two (2) Members of the Board representing DeKalb County;   
 
 (iii) With respect to action concerning City Properties, the presence of three (3) 
Members of the Board including one (1) representing the city within which the subject City 
Property is located and one (1) representing DeKalb County;   
 
The presence of School District Advisors is not required for establishing a quorum; however, the 
applicable Board of Education’s consent must be obtained in order to extinguish school district 
taxes on Real Property of the Land Bank in accordance with Section 6.02 of this Contract and the 
Land Bank Act. 
 
 Section 1.13. “Real Property” means all lands and the buildings thereon, all things 
permanently attached to land or to the buildings thereon, and any interest existing in, issuing out 
of, or dependent upon land or the buildings thereon. 
 
 Section 1.14. “School District Advisor” means any non-voting representative to the 
Board appointed by the Board of Education of a school district for purposes of deliberation and 
providing or declining the required school district consent for the extinguishment of school district 
taxes on Real Property of the Land Bank in accordance with Section 6.02 of this Contract and the 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

Land Bank Act. 
 
 Section 1.15. “State” means the State of Georgia. 
 

ARTICLE II 
PURPOSE 

 
 Section 2.01.Purpose.The purpose of this Contract is to create and empower the Land 
Bank to exercise the powers, duties, functions and responsibilities of a land bank under the Land 
Bank Act. 
 
 Section 2.02.Programs and Functions. The Land Bank shall endeavor to carry out the 
powers, duties, functions and responsibilities of a land bank under the Land Bank Act consistent 
with this Contract, including, but not limited to, the power, privilege and authority to acquire, 
manage and dispose of interests in Real Property, and to do all other things necessary or convenient 
to implement the purposes, objectives and provisions of the Land Bank Act and the purposes, 
objectives and powers delegated to a land bank under other laws or executive orders. 
 
 

 
ARTICLE III 

CREATION OF LAND BANK 
 

 Section 3.01.Creation and Legal Status of Land Bank. The Land Bank is established as 
a separate legal entity and public body corporate, to be known as the “DeKalb Regional Land Bank 
Authority,” for the purposes of acting as a land bank under the Land Bank Act and implementing 
and administering this Contract. 
 
 Section 3.02.By-Laws, and Policies and Procedures. The Board shall adopt by-laws 
consistent with the provisions of this Contract and the Land Bank Act within thirty (30) days after 
the Board is appointed. The Board shall adopt policies and procedures consistent with the 
provisions of this Contract and the Land Bank Act within ninety (90) days after the Board is 
appointed. 
 
 Section 3.03. Principal Office. The principal office of the Land Bank shall be at a location 
within the geographical boundaries of DeKalb County, as determined by the Board. 
 
 Section 3.04.Title to Land Bank Assets. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, 
the Land Bank shall have title to all of its Real Property and no Party shall have an ownership 
interest in Real Property owned by the Land Bank. 
 
 Section 3.05.Tax-Exempt Status. The Parties intend the activities of the Land Bank to be 
governmental functions carried out by an instrumentality or political subdivision of the State as 
described in Section 115 of Title 26 of the United States Internal Revenue Code, or any 
corresponding provisions of any future tax code. The Parties also intend the activities of the Land 
Bank to be governmental functions carried out by a political subdivision of this State, exempt to 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

the extent provided under Georgia law from taxation by this State, including, but not limited to, ad 
valorem property tax exemption pursuant to Section 48-5-41 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated or corresponding provisions of future State tax laws. 
 
 Section 3.06.Waiver of Special Assessments. Upon the request of the Land Bank and for 
the purposes of fostering the goals and objectives of the Land Bank, any Party, at its option and in 
its discretion, may extinguish special assessments levied by the Party prior to the date of 
acquisition by the Land Bank against Real Property owned by the Land Bank, and may exempt 
Real Property owned by the Land Bank from the imposition of special assessments. 
 
 Section 3.07.Compliance with Law. The Land Bank shall comply with all federal and 
state laws, rules, regulations and orders applicable to this Contract. 
 
 Section 3.08.Relationship of Parties. The Parties agree that no Party shall be responsible, 
in whole or in part, for the acts of the employees, agents, and servants of any other Party or of the 
Land Bank, whether acting separately or in conjunction with the implementation of this Contract. 
The Parties shall only be bound and obligated under this Contract as expressly agreed to by each 
Party. The Land Bank shall not obligate any Party nor shall any obligation of the Land Bank 
constitute an obligation of any Party. 
 
 Section 3.09. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Except as otherwise specifically provided, 
this Contract does not create in any Person, other than a Party, and is not intended to create by 
implication or otherwise, any direct or indirect benefit, obligation, duty, promise, right to be 
indemnified (such as contractually, legally, equitably or by implication), right to be subrogated to 
any Party’s rights under this Contract, or any other right or benefit. 
 
 Section 3.10.Additional Parties to Contract. At any time subsequent to the Effective 
Date, in accordance with the Land Bank Act, an additional city located in whole or in part within 
DeKalb County, or a consolidated government, or an additional county and at least one city located 
in that additional county may become a Party to this Contract by completing the following 
requirements: 
 
 (a) unanimous approval of the Board as it exists before the addition of the applicable city, 
county or consolidated government, and execution by the Board chairperson of the signature page 
attached hereto as Appendix II; 
 
 (b) adoption of a local law, ordinance or resolution as appropriate to the applicable city, 
county or consolidated government;  
 
 (c) execution by the authorized representatives of the existing cities, county and/or 
consolidated government of the signature page attached hereto as Appendix I; 
 
 (d)  execution by both (A) the applicable city, county or consolidated government and (B) 
the Board of an amendment to this Contract (a “Contract Amendment”) with such Contract 
Amendment to incorporate matters reflecting the terms and responsibilities associated with such 
city’s, county’s or consolidated government’s joining the Land Bank. 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

 
ARTICLE IV 

BOARD, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND STAFF 
 
 Section 4.01.Board Composition; Member Qualifications. The Land Bank shall be 
governed by a Board of Directors that shall be appointed within ninety (90) calendar days of the 
Effective Date. Each member shall serve at the pleasure of the appointing Party and shall serve 
without compensation. The members shall be residents of their respective appointing Parties and 
may be employees of one of the Parties. In addition, all members appointed to the Board shall be 
persons who have demonstrated special interest, experience or education in urban planning, real 
estate, community development, finance or related areas.  The Board shall consist of the following 
members: 
 
 (a) Four (4) member(s) appointed by the governing authority of DeKalb County for an 
initial term of two years; 
 
 (b) One (1) member appointed by the Mayor of the City of Lithonia for an initial term of 
four years; and 
 
 (c) One (1) member appointed by the Mayor of any City that becomes a Party to this 
Contract after the Effective Date according to the provisions of Section 3.10 for an initial term of 
four years; provided that the governing authority of DeKalb County shall also appoint one (1) 
additional member for an initial term of four years.  For purposes of clarification, and to avoid 
confusion, this Section 4.01(c) is intended to provide that DeKalb County shall always maintain a 
voting majority on the Board. 
 
When identifying individuals for appointment to the Board (a “New Appointment”), DeKalb 
County and each City which is a Party to this Contract shall attempt to avoid appointing individuals 
with skill sets that are duplicative of the skill sets possessed by the individuals already serving on 
the Board at the time that such New Appointment is to be made.   
 
 Section 4.02.Term of Office. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the members 
of the Board appointed under Section 4.01 shall be appointed for staggered terms. The initial term 
of the members appointed by the governing authority of DeKalb County shall be for two (2) years 
and subsequent terms of the members appointed by the governing authority of DeKalb County 
shall be for four (4) years. The initial term and subsequent term of the members appointed by the 
Mayor of the City of Lithonia shall be for four (4) years.  All subsequent board appointments shall 
be for terms of either two or four years as necessary to ensure staggered terms of office. The first 
term of the initial Board members shall commence on the date of the first Board meeting. Each 
Board member at the election of his or her appointing Party may serve an unlimited number of 
terms. In the event State law is amended to provide for different terms or composition of the Board, 
then the Board as it exists at the time of such amendment shall be authorized to take any action 
required such that the Board complies with any requirements of State law. 
 
 Section 4.03.Removal. Board members serve at the pleasure of their appointing Party and 
may be removed by the appointing Party at any time with or without cause, or may be removed 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

pursuant to any other provision of Georgia law. 
 
 Section 4.04.Vacancies. A vacancy among the members of the Board appointed under 
Section 4.01, whether caused by the death, resignation, or removal of a Board member, shall be 
filled in the same manner as the original appointment for the balance of the unexpired term. Such 
vacancy shall be filled as soon as practicable. 
 
 Section 4.05.Participation by School Districts. Each school district containing within its 
geographical boundaries Real Property owned by the Land Bank shall be given advance notice of 
each Board meeting and may designate a School District Advisor to the Board. 
 
 Section 4.06.Meetings. The Board shall conduct its first meeting no later than thirty (30) 
calendar days after the Board is appointed. The Board shall meet at least annually and hold such 
other meetings at the place, date and time as the Board shall determine. All meetings of the Board 
shall comply with the provisions of Sections 50-14-1 et seq. of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, including, but not limited to, the provisions requiring public notice of the time, place, 
and date of the meetings. 
 
 Section 4.07.Records of Meetings. The Board shall maintain a written record of each 
meeting. Meeting summaries and minutes shall be kept in accordance with Sections 50-14-1 et 
seq. and 50-18-70 et seq. of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated. 
 
 Section 4.08.Quorum and Voting. Presence for both quorum and voting at a Board 
meeting may include electronic communication by which such member of the Board is both seen 
and heard by the members of the Board and any members of the public at the meeting. After a 
quorum is established, all actions of the Board shall be approved by the affirmative vote of a 
majority of the members of the Board present and voting; provided, however, that no action of the 
Board shall be authorized on the following matters unless approved by a majority of the entire 
Board membership (with such vote constituting “a majority of the entire Board membership” to 
include the affirmative vote of a DeKalb County Board Member): 
 
 (a) Hiring or firing of any employee or contractor of the Land Bank. Such function may, 
by a majority vote of the total Board membership (with such vote constituting “a majority of the 
entire Board membership” to include the affirmative vote of a DeKalb County Board Member), be 
delegated to a specific officer or committee of the Land Bank, under such terms and conditions 
and to the extent that the Board may specify; 
 
 (b) The incurring of debt; and 
 
 (c) Adoption or amendment of the annual budget. 
 
 Section 4.09.Board Responsibilities. The Board shall have all powers necessary to carry 
out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of this Contract and the Land Bank Act, including, 
but not limited to, the powers set forth in Sections 48-4-106 and 48-4-112 of the Land Bank Act. 
 
 Section 4.10.Fiduciary Duty. The members of the Board are under a fiduciary duty to 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

conduct the activities and affairs of the Land Bank in the best interests of the Land Bank, including 
the safekeeping and use of all Land Bank monies and assets. The members of the Board shall 
discharge their duties in good faith, with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position 
would exercise under similar circumstances. 
 
 Section 4.11.Compensation. The members of the Board shall receive no compensation for 
the performance of their duties. A Board member may engage in private or public employment, or 
in a profession or business, except to the extent prohibited by Georgia law. The Land Bank may 
reimburse members of the Board for actual and necessary expenses incurred in the discharge of 
their official duties on behalf of the Land Bank. 
 
 Section 4.12. Executive Director. The Board may select and retain an executive director. 
An executive director selected and retained by the Board shall administer the Land Bank in 
accordance with the operating budget adopted by the Board, general policy guidelines established 
by the Board, other applicable governmental procedures and policies and this Contract. The 
executive director shall be responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Land Bank, the control, 
management, and oversight of the Land Bank’s functions, and supervision of all Land Bank 
employees. All terms and conditions of the executive director’s length of service shall be specified 
in a written contract between the executive director and the Board, provided that the executive 
director shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Board may delegate to the executive director 
any powers or duties it considers proper, under such terms, conditions and to the extent that the 
Board may specify. 
 
 Section 4.13.Employees. The Land Bank may employ or otherwise contract for the 
services of any staff deemed necessary to carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Land 
Bank. Such staff may be employed as employees of the Land Bank, or the services of such staff 
may be retained pursuant to contracts with any Party or other public entities. 
 
 Section 4.14.Expertise of Land Bank Staff. The staff of the Land Bank shall be persons 
who have demonstrated special interest, experience or education in urban planning, community 
development, real estate, law, finance or related areas. 
 
 Section 4.15.Ethics. The Board shall adopt ethics policies governing the conduct of Board 
members, officers, appointees, employees and independent contractors. The policies shall be no 
less stringent than those provided for public officers and employees under Section 45-10-1 et seq. 
of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated. In addition, members of the Board shall be subject to 
any ethics code otherwise applicable to appointees of each Party, such as Section 22A of the 
Organizational Act of DeKalb County, or the Charter and Ordinances of the City of Lithonia, as 
applicable. 
 
 Section 4.16.Conflicts of Interest. Members of the Board and officers, appointees, 
employees and independent contractors of the Land Bank shall be deemed to be public officials 
for the purposes of Section 45-10-20 et seq. of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, or 
corresponding provisions of future State conflicts of interest law, and are subject to any other 
applicable law with respect to conflicts of interest. The Land Bank shall establish policies and 
procedures requiring the disclosure of relationships that may give rise to a conflict of interest. The 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

Board shall require that any member of the Board with a direct or indirect interest in any matter 
before the Board disclose the member’s interest to the Board before the Board takes any action on 
the matter. 
 

ARTICLE V 
GENERAL POWERS OF LAND BANK 

 
 Section 5.01. General Powers Under Land Bank Act. The Land Bank may exercise all 
of the powers, duties, functions and responsibilities of a land bank under the Land Bank Act to the 
extent authorized by the Land Bank Act and any other Georgia law. 
 
 Section 5.02.Tax Limitation. The Land Bank shall not levy any type of tax or special 
assessment. 
 
 Section 5.03. Eminent Domain Prohibited. The Land Bank shall neither possess nor 
exercise the power of eminent domain. 
 
 Section 5.04.Limitation on Political Activities. The Land Bank shall not spend any public 
funds on political activities. Subject to the foregoing, this section is not intended to prohibit the 
Land Bank from engaging in activities authorized by applicable law. 
 
 Section 5.05. No Waiver of Governmental Immunity. The Parties agree that no provision 
of the Contract is intended, nor shall it be construed, as a waiver by any Party of any sovereign or 
governmental immunity applicable to the Parties. 
 
 Section 5.06.Non-Discrimination. The Land Bank shall comply with all applicable laws 
and policies prohibiting discrimination. 
 
 (a) The Land Bank shall not provide services in a manner that discriminates against an 
individual because of religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, height, 
weight, marital status, partisan considerations, disability or genetic information. 
 
 (b) The Land Bank shall not fail or refuse to hire, recruit, promote, demote, discharge or 
otherwise discriminate against an individual with respect to employment, compensation, or a term, 
condition or privilege of employment because of religion, race, color, national origin, age, sex, 
sexual orientation, height, weight, marital status, partisan considerations, disability or genetic 
information. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
SPECIFIC POWERS OF THE LAND BANK 

 
 Section 6.01.Acquisition of Real Property. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract 
or under the Land Bank Act, the Land Bank may acquire, by gift, devise, transfer, exchange, 
foreclosure, purchase or otherwise, Real Property or personal property, or rights or interests in 
Real Property or personal property, on terms and conditions and in a manner the Board considers 
is in the best interest of the Land Bank. The Land Bank may purchase Real Property by purchase 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

contract, lease purchase contract or otherwise. The Land Bank may acquire Real Property or rights 
or interests in Real Property for any purpose the Land Bank considers necessary to carry out the 
purposes of the Land Bank Act. 
 
 Section 6.02. Tax Delinquent Real Property. Subject to the notice provided to school 
districts pursuant to Section 48-4-112(a) of the Land Bank Act, and by resolution of the Board 
subject to the requirements of Section 4.08 of this Contract, the Land Bank may discharge and 
extinguish Real Property tax liens and claims owed to one or more of the Parties that encumber 
Real Property owned by the Land Bank. The Land Bank may bid on and acquire title to Real 
Property in judicial and non-judicial tax enforcement proceedings in accordance with Section 48-
4-112 of the Land Bank Act or such other general, special or local laws as may be applicable to 
the property tax enforcement procedures of the Parties. The Land Bank may negotiate the 
acquisition of tax executions in accordance with Section 48-4-112 of the Land Bank Act or such 
other general, special or local laws as may be applicable to the property tax enforcement 
procedures of the Parties. The Land Bank may foreclose the right of redemption on Real Property 
interests acquired through tax sale. 
 
 Section 6.03.Quiet Title Actions. The Land Bank may initiate a quiet title action to quiet 
title to interests in Land Bank Real Property. 
 
 Section 6.04.Execution of Legal Documents Relating to Real Property. All deeds, 
mortgages, contracts, leases, purchases or other contracts regarding Real Property of the Land 
Bank, including contracts to acquire or dispose of Real Property, shall be approved by the Board 
or by a Land Bank staff member authorized by the Board, and executed in the name of the Land 
Bank. 
 
 Section 6.05.Holding and Managing Real Property. The Land Bank may hold and own 
in its name any Real Property acquired by the Land Bank or conveyed to the Land Bank by the 
State, a Party to this Contract, a local unit of government, an intergovernmental entity created 
under the laws of the State, or any other public or private Person, including, but not limited to, 
Real Property with or without clear title. The Land Bank may, without the approval of a local unit 
of government in which Real Property held by the Land Bank is located, control, hold, manage, 
maintain, operate, repair, lease as lessor, secure, prevent the waste or deterioration of, demolish, 
and take all other actions necessary to preserve the value of the Real Property it holds or owns. 
The Land Bank shall maintain all Real Property held by the Land Bank in accordance with 
applicable laws and codes. Real Property held by the Land Bank shall be inventoried and appraised 
and classified by the Land Bank according to the title status of the Real Property and suitability 
for use. The inventory shall be maintained as a public record and shall be filed in the principal 
office of the Land Bank. The Land Bank may take or perform actions with respect to Real Property 
held or owned by the Land Bank, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
 (a) grant or acquire a license, easement, or option with respect to Real Property as the 
Land Bank determines is reasonably necessary to achieve the purposes of this Contract and the 
Land Bank Act; 
 
 (b) fix, charge, and collect rents, fees, and charges for use of Land Bank Real Property 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

or for services provided by the Land Bank; 
 
 (c) pay any tax or special assessment due on Real Property acquired or owned by the 
Land Bank; 
 
 (d) take any action, provide any notice, or institute any proceeding required to clear or 
quiet title to Real Property held by the Land Bank in order to establish ownership by and vest title 
to Real Property in the Land Bank; and 
 
 (e) remediate environmental contamination on any Real Property held by the Land 
Bank. 
 

Section 6.06.Lawn Maintenance of Real Property Within a City. Regarding any Real 
Property acquired by the Land Bank or conveyed to the Land Bank as contemplated by this 
Contract that is a City Property (as defined in Section 1.02 of this Contract), during the course of 
the Land Bank’s ownership of such Real Property, the City (if such City is a Party to this Contract) 
within whose boundaries such Real Property lies shall be responsible for the maintenance of such 
Real Property specifically related to keeping the lawn free of debris, and such lawn and the trees 
and the shrubs on such Real property properly cut, pruned and trimmed.   
 
 Section 6.07.Civil Action to Protect Land Bank Real Property. The Land Bank may 
institute a civil action to prevent, restrain or enjoin the waste of or unlawful removal of any Real 
Property held by the Land Bank. 
 
 Section 6.08.Environmental Contamination. If the Land Bank has reason to believe that 
Real Property held by the Land Bank may be the site of environmental contamination, the Land 
Bank shall provide the Environmental Protection Division of the Georgia Department of Natural 
Resources with any information in the possession of the Land Bank that suggests that the Real 
Property may be the site of environmental contamination. The Land Bank shall cooperate with the 
Georgia Department of Natural Resources with regard to any request made or action taken by the 
Department of Natural Resources. 
 
 Section 6.09.Transfer of Interests in Real Property by Land Bank. On terms and 
conditions, in a manner, and for an amount of consideration the Land Bank considers proper, fair 
and reasonable, including for no monetary consideration, the Land Bank may convey, sell, transfer, 
exchange, lease as lessor, mortgage as mortgagor or otherwise dispose of Real Property or rights 
or interests in Real Property in which the Land Bank holds a legal interest to any public or private 
Person. 
 
 Section 6.10.Criteria for Conveyance. Land Bank Real Property shall be conveyed in 
accordance with the Land Bank Act and according to criteria determined in the discretion of the 
Board and contained in the policies and procedures adopted by the Board. The Board may adopt 
policies and procedures that set forth priorities for a transferee’s use of Real Property conveyed by 
the Land Bank, including, but not limited to, affordable housing. 
 
 Section 6.11.Structure of Conveyances. Transactions shall be structured in a manner that 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

permits the Land Bank to enforce contractual agreements, real covenants and the provisions of any 
subordinate financing held by the Land Bank pertaining to development and use of the Real 
Property. 
 
 Section 6.12.Disposition of Proceeds. Any proceeds from the sale or transfer of Real 
Property by the Land Bank shall be retained, expended, or transferred by the Land Bank as 
determined by the Board in the best interests of the Land Bank and in accordance with the Land 
Bank Act. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
BOOKS, RECORDS, AND FINANCES 

 
 Section 7.01.Land Bank Records. The Land Bank shall keep and maintain at the principal 
office of the Land Bank all documents and records of the Land Bank. The records of the Land 
Bank, which shall be available to the Parties, shall include, but not be limited to, a copy of this 
Contract along with any amendments to the Contract. The records and documents shall be 
maintained until the termination of this Contract and shall be delivered to any successor entity. 
 
 Section 7.02.Financial Statements and Reports. The Land Bank shall cause to be 
prepared, at the Land Bank’s expense, audited financial statements (balance sheet, statement of 
revenue and expense, statement of cash flows and changes in fund balance) on an annual basis. 
Such financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and accompanied by a written opinion of an independent certified public accounting 
firm. 
 
 Section 7.03.Annual Budget. The executive director, or other individual designated by the 
Board, shall prepare annually a budget for the Land Bank. The Board shall review and approve a 
budget for the Land Bank immediately preceding each Fiscal Year. 
 
 Section 7.04.Deposits and Investments. The Land Bank shall deposit and invest funds of 
the Land Bank, not otherwise employed in carrying out the purposes of the Land Bank, in 
accordance with an investment policy established by the Board consistent with laws and 
regulations regarding investment of public funds. 
 
 Section 7.05.Disbursements. Disbursements of funds shall be in accordance with 
guidelines established by the Board. 
 
 Section 7.06.Performance Objectives. Each Fiscal Year, the executive director, or other 
individual designated by the Board, shall prepare, for review and approval by the Board, objectives 
for the Land Bank’s performance. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
FUNDING AND EXPENDITURES AND IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
 Section 8.01.Budget Contributions. While under no obligation, the Parties may 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

contribute to the annual Land Bank budget in such manner as approved by the Party or Parties. 
 
 Section 8.02.Tax Allocation. The Parties agree that in accordance with Section 48-4-
110(c) of the Land Bank Act, 75% of the Real Property taxes collected on Real Property, exclusive 
of any state or school district ad valorem tax, conveyed by the Land Bank after the Effective Date 
shall be remitted to the Land Bank commencing with the first taxable year following the date of 
conveyance and shall continue for a period of five (5) years. 
  
 Section 8.03.Management of Funds. The Land Bank executive director, or other 
individual designated by the Board, shall be designated the fiscal agent of the Land Bank’s account 
established for the management of sales proceeds, monetary contributions made by the Parties, 
and other Land Bank funds. Standard accounting procedures shall be used in the management of 
the accounts. 
 
 Section 8.04.Authorized Expenditures. The Land Bank shall in its sole discretion and 
within its budget expend such funds as necessary to carry out the powers, duties, functions and 
responsibilities of a land bank under the Land Bank Act consistent with this Contract. 
 
 Section 8.05. In-Kind Contributions.  Each City that is a Party to this Contract shall make 
“in-kind” contributions to the Land Bank with the type of such “in-kind” contributions to be 
determined in such City’s discretion.  Such “in-kind” contributions may consist of (i) making 
office facilities available for meetings of the Land Bank’s Board of Directors, (ii) providing office 
supplies to the Land Bank, and (iii) assigning certain of such City’s staff to provide additional staff 
resources to the Land Bank for the purpose of assisting the Land Bank in the execution of its duties 
and responsibilities.  
 

ARTICLE IX 
DURATION OF CONTRACT 

 
 Section 9.01.Duration. This Contract shall commence on the Effective Date and shall 
remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2025, at which time it shall become null and 
void, unless terminated earlier under the terms and conditions set forth herein.   
 
 Section 9.02.Withdrawal by Party. Any Party may withdraw from this Contract upon six 
(6) months prior notice in writing to the Land Bank and all Parties as provided under Section 10.01. 
Upon the effective withdrawal of any Party to this Contract, the Party so withdrawing will no 
longer have any rights to funds or other assets of the Land Bank; provided, however, that such 
withdrawal shall not discharge the withdrawing Party from its obligations under Section 8.02 of 
this Contract. The Land Bank shall not automatically dissolve upon the withdrawal of one or more 
Parties except that no City may maintain the existence of a land bank if the County in which the 
City is located withdraws from the Land Bank, and no County may maintain the existence of a 
Land Bank if the single City that is both located within that county and a Party withdraws from 
the Land Bank. 
 
 Section 9.03.Termination.The Land Bank shall be terminated by: (i) agreement by all 
Parties to this Contract; (ii) by affirmative resolution approved by two-thirds of the membership 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

of the Board and in accordance with Section 48-4-111 of the Land Bank Act; or (iii) by withdrawal 
of one or more Parties such that only one Party to this Contract remains and such remaining Party 
is not a consolidated government. 
 
 Section 9.04.Disposition upon Termination. As soon as possible after termination, the 
Land Bank shall finish its affairs as follows: 
 
 (a) all of the Land Bank’s debts, liabilities, and obligations to its creditors and all expenses 
incurred in connection with the termination of the Land Bank and distribution of its assets shall be 
paid first; 
 
 (b) the remaining Real Property and personal property owned by the Land Bank, if any, 
shall be distributed to any successor entity, subject to approval by the Parties. In the event that no 
successor entity exists, the remaining Real Property and personal property, and other assets of the 
Land Bank, shall become assets of the city, county or consolidated government in which the Real 
Property is located, unless provided otherwise in any applicable intergovernmental contracts; and 
 
 (c) liability shall be absorbed upon termination as agreed upon by the Board of the Land 
Bank. In the absence of agreement by the Board, liability associated with each property shall be 
with the Party in which the property is located. 
 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
 Section 10.01.Notices. Any and all correspondence or notices required, permitted or 
provided for under this Contract to be delivered to any Party shall be sent to that Party by first-
class mail. All such written notices, including any notice of withdrawal under Article IX, shall be 
sent to each other Party’s signatory to this Contract, or that signatory’s successor. All 
correspondence shall be considered delivered to a Party as of the date that such notice is deposited 
with sufficient postage with the United States Postal Service. Any notice of withdrawal shall be 
sent via certified mail, return receipt requested. Notices to DeKalb County shall be sent to: Chief 
Executive Officer, 1300 Commerce Drive, 6th Floor, Decatur, GA 30030. Notices to the City of 
Lithonia shall be sent to the Mayor, 6980 Main Street, Lithonia, GA 30058.  Notices to the Land 
Bank shall be sent to the Land Bank Principal Office. All notices sent to the addresses listed above 
shall be binding unless said address is changed in writing. 
 
 Section 10.02.Entire Agreement. This Contract sets forth the entire agreement between 
the Parties and supersedes any and all prior contracts or understandings between them in any way 
related to the subject matter of this Contract. It is further understood and agreed that the terms and 
conditions of this Contract are not a mere recital and that there are no other contracts, 
understandings or representations between the Parties in any way related to the subject matter of 
this Contract, except as expressly stated in this Contract. 
 
 Section 10.03.Interpretation of Contract. The Parties intend that this Contract shall be 
construed liberally to effectuate the intent and purposes of this Contract and the legislative intent 
and purposes of the Land Bank Act as complete and independent authorization for the performance 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

of each and every act and thing authorized by this Contract and the Land Bank Act. All powers 
granted to the Land Bank under this Contract and the Land Bank Act shall be broadly interpreted 
to effectuate the intent and purposes and not as a limitation of powers. 
 
 Section 10.04.Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Contract, or its 
application to any Person, Party or circumstance, is invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 
Contract and the application of that provision to other Persons, Parties or circumstances is not 
affected but will be enforced to the extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 10.05.Governing Law. This Contract is made and entered into in the State of 
Georgia and shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and governed under the laws of the State 
of Georgia without regard to the doctrines of conflict of laws. The language of all parts of this 
Contract shall in all cases be construed as a whole according to its plain and fair meaning, and not 
construed strictly for or against any Party. 
 
 Section 10.06.Captions and Headings. The captions, headings, and titles in this Contract 
are intended for the convenience of the reader and are not intended to have any substantive 
meaning or to be interpreted as part of this Contract. 
 
 Section 10.07.Terminology. All terms and words used in this Contract, regardless of the 
number or gender in which they are used, are deemed to include any other number and any other 
gender as the context may require. 
 
 Section 10.08.Cross-References. References in this Contract to any article include all 
sections, subsections, and paragraphs in the article, unless specifically noted otherwise. References 
in this Contract to any section include all subsections and paragraphs in the section. 
 
 Section 10.09.Jurisdiction and Venue. In the event of any disputes between the Parties 
over the meaning, interpretation or implementation of the terms, covenants or conditions of this 
Contract, the matter under dispute, unless resolved between the Parties, shall be submitted to the 
Superior Courts of DeKalb County. 
 
 Section 10.10.Amendments to Contract. With the exception of the addition of a new 
Party pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.10 of this Contract, this Contract may be amended or 
an alternative form of this Contract adopted only upon written amendment approved by all Parties. 
 
 Section 10.11.Amendments to Land Bank Act. The Land Bank and Board shall have any 
powers authorized pursuant to any amendments, replacements or substitutions to the Land Bank 
Act, unless the Contract is amended by the Parties to provide otherwise. 
 
 Section 10.12.Effective Date. This Contract shall become effective as of the Effective 
Date. 
 
 Section 10.13. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

 
 

[  Signature page to follow  ] 
  



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

 This Contract is hereby executed by the authorized representatives of the Parties as of the 
date indicated herein. 
 
DEKALB COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 Michael L. Thurmond 
            Chief Executive Officer 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 Barbara H. Sanders, CCC 

Clerk to the Chief Executive Officer  
            and Board of Commissioners 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
          Viviane Ernstes 

County Attorney  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE: 
 
 
By:  _________________________ 
        Allen Mitchell 
        Community Development Director 
 

 
CITY OF LITHONIA, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 Deborah Jackson 
            Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:____________________________ 
 City Clerk  
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
 City Attorney  
 
 
 
  



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

APPENDIX I 
 

 The undersigned agree that the City of _______________ is authorized to, and has, become 

a Party to this Intergovernmental Contract by virtue of the approval through official action of by 

the Parties as indicated below. 

 
DEKALB COUNTY, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 

Chief Executive Officer 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 

Clerk to the Chief Executive Officer  
and Board of Commissioners 

 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
 

County Attorney  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE 
 
 
By: __________________________ 
 

Community Development Director 
 
 

CITY OF LITHONIA, GEORGIA 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 City Clerk  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
By: ________________________ 
 City Attorney  
 
 
 
 

  



01639563-1 01639562-1 01637719-1 01509904-1 [0425-0064/305853/1] 

APPENDIX II 
 

 The undersigned City has become a Party to this Intergovernmental Contract by virtue of 

the approval through official action of the City on _____________, the unanimous approval of the 

DeKalb Regional Land Bank Authority on ______________, the approval of the Parties by official 

action of their governing authorities as indicated by official action in substantially similar form to 

that attached hereto as Appendix I and the Parties execution of a Contract Amendment. 

 
DEKALB REGIONAL  
LAND BANK AUTHORITY 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 Chair 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 Executive Director and  
Secretary  
 
 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
By:________________________ (SEAL) 
 Mayor Beverly Burks 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 City Clerk Tracy Ashby 
 
Approved as to legal form: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Stephen G. Quinn, City Attorney 
 
 

 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: JUNE 29, 2021 

SUBJECT:  Consider Repealing the Late Night Restaurant Operations related to City Ordinance 19-433, Late 
Night Alcohol Sales for Consumption on Premises 

PURPOSE:   

Discuss repealing City Ordinance 19-433, Regarding Alcoholic Beverages, “Late Night Sales” for on the Premises 
Consumption at various businesses, mainly restaurants. 

NEED/IMPACT: 

At the October 27, 2020, Council Worksession, City staff and Council discussed various concerns regarding two (2) 
restaurants providing late night sales pursuant to the ordinance’s adoption on Feb 5, 2019. The below is the 
information provided to Council at that Oct 27, 2020, Worksession:   

Since the Ordinances’ adoption 2 restaurants have been providing late night sales and for 
the most part have complied with the above requirements.  However, the additional hours 
have yielded various concerns including:  (1) additional/excessive noise, (2) additional trash, 
(3) traffic/parking, (4) businesses possibly not in compliance with City Ordinance 19-448,
Bona Fide Restaurants that Must Serve 2 Meals per Day, (5) Customers possibly not wearing
masks and/or observing reasonable social distancing; (6) Indoor Smoking (other than the
permitted Hookah at one location); and (7) Over-all appearance of operating as a bar,
lounge, night club rather than a restaurant.

City staff has reviewed some of the above concerns with the business owners that have 
made various corrections/accommodations to alleviate the concerns.  We are still reviewing 
others to ensure compliance.  Many of the above concerns did not exist prior to the Feb 5, 
2019, “Late Night Sales” Ordinance adoption.   

Since the Oct 27, 2020, discussion similar concerns have periodically persisted specifically occasional 
non-compliance with the following (Exhibit A below lists various samples of the below): 

1. Noise (multiple occasions) - City Code, Sec 10-20 and Sec 12-28 – warnings provide to both restaurants
including in writing on 2 separate occasions to one on Sept 30, 2020, and March 16, 2021.

2. Outdoor signs advertising or promoting the sale of alcohol inside the restaurant – City Code, Sec 3-24 –
multiple occasions of drink specials including all you can drink for a set fee.

ITEM NO: G8 

ACTION TYPE: 
Repeal OrdinanceHEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:    YES   NO 
Pages:  12 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: ROBIN I. GOMEZ 

PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   



3. Unlawful conduct on licenses premises, City Code Sec 3-20 – disturbance of the peace, obscene or lewd 
behavior, conduct/practices in such a manner as to create a nuisance.      

4. Purchase from and sales to other than license holders, City Code Sec 3-19 – must purchase alcohol 
beverages only form a licensed wholesaler.         

5. Late Night Sales – Ord 19-433, no off-duty POST certified law enforcement officer present.    
6. Happy hour promotions, City Code 3-26 – posting drink and happy hour specials, especially for and during 

the late night sales time periods.           
7. Providing/selling hookah – City Code 10-79 – no permit for the sale of hookah (are not eligible to obtain 

one). 
  

8. Principle business of a restaurant shall be the sale of food, at least fifty-one (51%) of business receipts 
shall come from the sale of food; must serve at least 2 meals per day; must serve meals at least six (6) 
days per week – City Code, Sec 3-27 and City Ord 19-448 – a recently completed City audit determined very 
minimal compliance to these ordinances mainly the ability to confirm/verify that food receipts totaled at 
least fifty-one (51%) of business as well as that one restaurant was only open a few days each month (mainly 
weekends).   

 
9. Production of records; audits – City Code 3-32 – the businesses in question do not maintain the following 

required records:  Daily sales receipts showing liquor, beer, and wine separately and daily cash register 
receipts such as Z tapes.   

 
10. Dawghouse Restaurant received four (4) Court Summons for City Code violations (Failing to serve 2 meals, 

No hookah permit, No post certified law enforcement officer present, and illegal adult entertainment), 
issued on May 14, 2021, that will be heard at Clarkston Municipal Court on July 7, 2021.   

 
LATE NIGH SALES ALCOHOL ORDINANCE BACKGROUND 
On February 5, 2019, the Clarkston City Council adopted Ordinance No. 433, enacting “Late Night Alcohol” sales 
regulations that amended City Code, Section 3-29 – Hours of Operation for Package Retailers; Hours of Sale for 
Consumption on Premises, with the main purpose to allow businesses licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on 
premises to make sales and remain open until later (extended) hours, specifically: 
 
Sunday to Thursday: 
 
   SALES: from 1:55 am to 4:00 am  
 
   CONSUMPTION ON PREMISES: from 2:25 am to 4:30 am 
 
   CLOSING TIME/HOUR: from 2:55 am to 5:00 am 
 
Friday and Saturday: 
 
   SALES: from 2:50 am to 4:00 am  
 
   CONSUMPTION ON PREMISES: from 3:20 am to 4:30 am 
 
   CLOSING TIME/HOUR: from 3:50 am to 5:00 am 
 
Under the new Ordinance, 7 days per week, Sales are allowed until 4:00 am, Consumption on Premises until 4:30, and 
the Closing Time/Hour is 5:00 am.   
 
Ordinance No. 433 also required that the licensee not permit any person under 21 years of age to be present during 
the late night sales hours and that all additional late night sales shall only be permitted/allowed when the licensee 
contracts an off-duty P.O.S.T. certified law enforcement officer employed by either the City of Clarkton or DeKalb 
County.   



 
 
 

EXHIBIT A – COMMUNICATIONS & SAMPLES OF NON-COMPLIANCE  - advertising, 
promoting, and essentially operating as bars/night clubs/lounges – not a restaurant: 
 
From the below internet site for the Ponce Sports Lounge on Wed, June 16, 2021 – hours of 
operation listed as 6 pm – 4 am Monday – Sunday (not open for 2 meals):   
 
https://www.poncesportsloungega.com/#/ 

 
 
 
(https://poncesportslounge.zohosites.com) – 6 PM – 5 AM daily except Saturdays: 6 PM – 4 AM. 
(https://poncesportsloungega.com) – 6 PM – 4 AM daily 
 
subsection c): As used in this section, principal business shall mean that at least fifty-one (51) percent of the receipts 
of such business shall come from the sale of food.  
 

Although the Ponce Sports Lounge originally billed itself as a cafe/restaurant their zohosites page states they “are 
primarily a lounge that serves food, not a restaurant”. Given this, and their hours of operation and observed 
activity, I would be very surprised if they meet the requirements of subsection c). 
 

https://poncesportslounge.zohosites.com/
https://poncesportsloungega.com/


 
 
 
DAWGHOUSE advertisings for drink specials, opening time at 10 pm (not open for two 
meals) 
 

        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Unpermitted Hookah smoking 
 

 
 
EMAILS TO CITY – MAINLY NOISE CONCERNS 
Aug 3, 2020 - As you may recall, I have had a recurring issue last year with loud music from the Ponce Sports Lounge 
last year. Unfortunately, since it reopened following the lockdown, the noise is back, every night, all night, until 5 
AM, sometimes later.  
 
Last year, I was advised to call the Clarkston Police if this happened, however, this didn't help, as the Police would 
tell me to contact Code Enforcement, only to be told again to call the Police. Rather than to continue participating in 
this back-and-forth, I would like to request that, as the person responsible for Code Enforcement, you take 
ownership for addressing the issue. I would also like to point out that the Ponce Lounge would appear to be in 
violation of several Clarkston ordinances, including Noise and the terms of Alcohol Licensing. These violations have 
been ongoing and recurring.  
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
From: Robin Gomez  
Sent: Friday, August 07, 2020 1:41 PM 
To: Shennetha Smith <ssmith@cityofclarkston.com> 
Subject: RE: Loud music (again) from Ponce Sports Lounge 
 
Thank you.  Yes, lets hold off on sending any notices.  I also advised him to ensure they comply with the following: 
 
1. Keep the noise levels down 
2. Pick up their trash 
3. Serve 2 meals per day 
4. Ensure patrons park legally 
 



I will follow-up with him next week.  Thanks.   
 
 

 
Aug 27, 2020 - As I have reported on several occasions, the Ponce Sports Lounge (PSL) is playing loud music every 
night, all night until 5AM (and later). 
 
From: Robin Gomez  
Sent: Thursday, August 27, 2020 4:15 PM 
Thank you for your communication.  After your prior communication (about 3 weeks ago), I visited and spoke with 
the Ponce Sports Lounge Manager and advised of various concerns including the ones you list.  He stated he would 
comply particularly as I advised him that continued non-compliance would result in the temporary suspension of his 
Business Registration/Occupational License Tax Certificate, meaning an immediate temporary closure of their 
business that could become permanent.    
 
We have begun to review the information  you listed as it does appear they are operating more as a 
lounge/bar/entertainment venue than a restaurant.  We are performing the actions you listed and coincidentally 
received communication from the business today that they would be providing some of the reports they owe the 
City.  I will once again remind them of the seriousness of the conversation I had with them on August 6.  We will 
review and advise of our findings as early as next Monday.  In the interim, we will monitor more specifically for noise 
to ensure it is not impeding adjacent properties.   
 
Sept 10, 2020 - Although I appreciate your visiting the PSL personally, the "monitoring for constant adherence and 
compliance" does not seem to be working. Had you visited at around 4 AM this morning, you would have found me 
talking to Officer Bulcher about the loud music which was playing at the time (from cars in the parking lot, but 
earlier also from inside the PSL). This happening right after your visit confirms what I already knew: that noise, 
whether from the PSL or from its patrons, will continue to happen as a result of their operating as an all-night music 
bar with no incentive to change to a more neighborhood-friendly business model given the lack of consequences 
beyond "monitoring". 
 
March 15, 2021 - sorry about the nature of my first communication with you since you became mayor, but 
unfortunately, the continued and ongoing ordinance violations by the Ponce Sports Lounge, and, more importantly, 
the willful inaction by city officials charged with protecting the welfare and quality of life of its citizens forces me to 
reach out to you, since you ran your election as someone who cares deeply about the citizens of Clarkston. Since this 
is a matter that concerns all citizens of Clarkston, I'm making this an Open Letter which I will cross-post on Nextdoor.  
 
To summarize, the Ponce Sports Lounge obtained a restaurant liquor license in 2017. The license is issued to "bona 
fide restaurants" with specific requirements (Code of Ordinances, section 3-27) regarding food sales as a percentage 
of total receipts, number and times of meals served, reporting requirements, and provisions for auditing reports 
against register receipts. 
 
After the extension of alcohol sales to 4 AM, which was heavily promoted by Mr. Tesfamariyam ("Jimmy") 
Wegayehu, the owner of the establishment, turned it into a bar and music venue, with the ensuing traffic, trash and 
noise issues that I have been reporting since at least December, 2019. At this time, there is no way this business 
could be called a "bona fide restaurant" by any possible stretch of the definition (and believe me, the definition has 
been stretched as far as possible). 
 
In spite of documented, repeated, and, sadly ongoing violations, the situation remains largely unchanged. In fact, I 
had to call the Police as recently as this morning due to noise and disturbances interrupting the sleep I badly need, 
especially because of certain personal circumstances I'm dealing with. Just this morning at 5:10 AM (when according 
to ordinances the PSL should have been closed), their parking lot (and the valet parking operating at the Texaco 
across the street) were pretty much full. Seemingly intoxicated patrons were "racing" in the parking lot, tires 
squealing. 



 
 
 
June 11, 2021 - Is some action going to be taken soon? I am now hearing an almost constant low rumble from the 
PSL subwoofers basically any time there's someone there. It starts in earnest around 6 PM every day, and doesn't 
stop, and also happens throughout the day. Last night I was awakened again at 3 AM by the subwoofers from the 
PSL. This has been going on now for close to two years with no meaningful action on the part of those oath-bound to 
uphold and enforce the city ordinances. I can't think of any valid reasons why the City has failed to act, extending 
leniency at every turn to the PSL, with no real, tangible consequences. 
 
To be clear, although the late night alcohol sales ordinance is obviously the reason why the PSL has brazenly gamed 
the system to run an all-night bar in what should have been a restaurant, after almost two years of this situation, 
any action that does not result in the closure of this business is unacceptable given the long history of problems (still 
ongoing). I fully expect the City to take prompt and decisive action, or I will be forced to pursue every avenue at my 
disposal to ensure that my rights are protected. 
 
 
CONCLUSIONS OF RECENTLY COMPLETED CITY AUDITS OF 2 RESTAURANTS PROVIDING “LATE NIGHT SALES” 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY ORDINANCE No 19-433 

 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City Code Sec 3-27, modified by the above City Ord 19-433 adopted on Feb 5, 2019:   
 
 

 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 2 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: June 29, 2021 

SUBJECT: Adopt Resolution Authorizing, Among Other Things, the Issuance and Sale of a Tax 
Anticipation Note in the Principal Amount of $500,000 

PURPOSE:  To consider adopting the attached Resolution Authorizing, Among Other Things, the Issuance 
and Sale of a Tax Anticipation Note in the Principal Amount of $500,000 

 NEED/ IMPACT:  The City of Clarkston will receive approximately 60% of our total anticipated revenue 
for fiscal year 2021 between the months of September and December. The majority of this revenue 
comes from property taxes, insurance premium payments and municipal court fines. The bulk of this 
revenue; property taxes and insurance premium payments, is received during the months of September, 
October and November.  

The City recently received the final 2021 tax digest.  While we will not receive property taxes until later 
this year, we have to generate additional available cash flow to cover our payrolls and other budgeted 
expenditures over the summer months.  The use and subsequent reduction in surplus available cash on 
hand will result in a temporary cash flow problem during the months from August through September if 
not addressed. (2021 tax proceeds will be remitted from Dekalb County beginning the end of September 
through November).  We have prepared a detailed schedule of monthly cash flow projections for the 
remainder of 2021 and expect our deficit balance in operating cash to be approximately $88,000 at the 
middle of August 2021 and topping out with a deficit balance of $500,000 by the end of September 
2021.    

Given that tax proceeds are not received until the 4th quarter of the fiscal year within which they are 
budgeted, this fiscal reality is not unusual. Many Georgia counties and municipalities take advantage of 
a State Law that authorizes the issuance of a Tax Anticipation Note (TAN), which will allow borrowing 
funds sufficient to cover the temporary cash flow deficit. Funds borrowed must be repaid in full prior to 
December 31st of each year.  

Staff has received a quote from BB&T/Truist Bank for the issuance of a Tax Anticipation Note in the 
amount of $500,000 with an interest rate of 2.09% and an anticipated closing date of July 15, 2021.  This 
is a short term loan with full payment due of principal and interest on December 31, 2021. The interest 

ITEM NO: G9 

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHMENT: YES    NO 
Pages: 14 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin Gomez 
PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489 ext. 411 



Page 2 of 2 
 

rate charged on the principal balance will be 2.09% annually amortized over 168 days.  Accordingly, the 
interest payments to BB&T will be approximately $4,810.  Additionally, issuance of a TAN requires 
preparation of the TAN resolution and other associated legal documents by a bond attorney. The fee for 
the bond attorney will be $5,000.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:  Staff recommends the City Council adopt the attached Tax Anticipation Note 
Resolution and associated documents.     
 
 

 



 

RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING, AMONG OTHER THINGS, 

THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF A TAX ANTICIPATION NOTE 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $500,000 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Clarkston, Georgia (the “Issuer”) is a municipal 
corporation of the State of Georgia, duly created and existing under and by virtue of the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Clarkston, Georgia (the “Governing 
Body”) has determined that it is in the best interest of the Issuer to borrow money to pay current 
expenses for calendar year 2021 in anticipation of the receipt of taxes levied or to be levied for 
the General Fund; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized by Article IX, Section V, Paragraph V of the 
Constitution of the State of Georgia and Section 36-80-2 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated to borrow money to pay current expenses during any calendar year and to evidence 
such borrowing by issuing tax anticipation notes in anticipation of the receipt of taxes levied or 
to be levied for the General Fund for expenses payable in such calendar year; and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer proposes to issue a Tax Anticipation Note in the principal 
amount of $500,000 (the “Note”) to pay the current expenses of the Issuer;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Body of the 
Issuer and it is hereby resolved by authority of the same, as follows: 

Section 1. Findings.  The Governing Body hereby finds and determines as 
follows:  (a) the principal amount of the Note and any other outstanding temporary loans do not 
exceed 75% of the total gross income from taxes collected by the Issuer in calendar year 2020 
for the General Fund; (b) the principal amount of the Note, together with other contracts, notes, 
warrants or obligations of the Issuer for current expenses payable from the General Fund, do not 
exceed the total anticipated tax revenues of the Issuer for the General Fund for calendar year 
2021; (c) no temporary loan or other contract, note, warrant or other obligation for current 
expenses incurred in calendar year 2020 or any prior calendar year remains unpaid as of the date 
hereof; and (d) a need exists for the Issuer to borrow $500,000 to pay current expenses of the 
Issuer in calendar year 2021 prior to the receipt of sufficient revenues from taxes levied or to be 
levied for the General Fund for 2021. 

Section 2. Authorization of Note; Terms and Execution.  There is hereby 
authorized to be issued a tax anticipation note of the Issuer in the principal amount of $500,000 
which shall be designated “City of Clarkston, Georgia Tax Anticipation Note, 2021” (the 
“Note”).  The Note shall be dated as of the date of delivery thereof to the purchaser, shall bear 
interest at the rate of interest set forth therein as provided in the form of the Note attached hereto 
as Exhibit A and shall be issued in registered form.  Both principal and interest shall be payable 
in lawful money of the United States of America by wire transfer to the person who is the 
registered owner on December 15, 2021 without the presentation or surrender of the Note, except 



2 

that upon written request of the Issuer made concurrently with or reasonably promptly after 
payment in full of the Note, the registered owner thereof shall surrender the Note for 
cancellation, reasonably promptly after any such request, to the Issuer, and shall be payable as to 
principal and interest.  The Note shall mature and together with accrued interest shall be payable 
on December 31, 2021.  The Note may be prepaid in whole prior to maturity, without premium, 
in an amount equal to par plus accrued interest.  The Note shall be executed by the Mayor, and 
shall be attested to by the City Clerk, and the seal shall be impressed thereon.  In case any officer 
whose signature shall be affixed to the Note or who shall have sealed the Note shall cease to be 
such officer before the Note so signed and sealed shall have been actually delivered, the Note, 
nevertheless, shall be a valid Note obligation of the Issuer and may be delivered as such 
notwithstanding the fact that such officer or officers may have ceased to be such officer or 
officers of the Issuer when the Note shall be actually delivered. 

Section 3. Approval of Form of Note.  The Note as initially issued shall be 
issued in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A subject to such minor changes, 
insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Mayor, and the execution and delivery of the 
Note shall be conclusive evidence of such approval. 

Section 4. Tax Revenues Used to Repay Note.  The Issuer agrees to use for 
payment of the Note and the interest thereon a sufficient portion of the revenues received by the 
Issuer from taxes levied or to be levied for calendar year 2021 for the General Fund and other 
funds available for such purpose. The indebtedness evidenced by the Note is a general obligation 
of the Issuer, and the full faith and credit of the Issuer have been and hereby are irrevocably 
pledged to secure the payment of the principal of and interest on this Note. 

Section 5. Authentication of Note.  The Note as originally issued and each 
Note issued in connection with a registration of transfer shall have endorsed thereon a certificate 
of authentication substantially in the form set forth in the Note.  The Note shall not be deemed to 
be validly issued hereunder unless it contains such certificate of authentication.   

Section 6. Registered Owner.  The person in whose name the Note shall be 
registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and 
payment of or on account of either principal or interest shall be made only to or upon the order of 
the registered owner thereof or his duly authorized attorney.  All such payments shall be valid 
and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Note to the extent of the sum or 
sums so paid. 

Section 7. Tax Covenants and Representations.  The Note is being issued 
by the Issuer for the governmental purpose of providing funds for the current expenses of the 
Issuer for the year 2021, in compliance with the conditions necessary for the interest income on 
the Note to be excludable from gross income for federal income taxation pursuant to the 
provisions of Section 103(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  It 
is the intention of the Issuer that the interest on the Note be and remain excludable from gross 
income for federal income tax purposes, and, to that end, the Issuer hereby covenants with the 
holder of the Note, as follows: 



3 

(a) It will not take any action, or fail to take any action, if any such action or 
failure to take action would adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the interest on the 
Note under Section 103 of the Code. 

(b) It will not directly or indirectly use or permit the use of any proceeds of 
the Note or any other funds of the Issuer or take or omit to take any action in a way that 
would cause the Note to be (i) a “private activity bond” within the meaning of Section 
141 of the Code, (ii) an obligation which is “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of 
Section 149 of the Code or (iii) a “hedge bond” within the meaning of Section 149 of the 
Code. 

(c) It will not directly or indirectly use or permit the use of any proceeds of 
the Note or any other funds of the Issuer or take or omit to take any action that would 
cause the Note to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Code. 

(d) It will cause to be completed and filed with the Internal Revenue Service 
the information required by Section 149(e) of the Code (Treasury Form 8038-G) 
simultaneously with the issuance of the Note. 

Section 8. General Authority.  From and after the date of adoption of this 
Resolution, any member of the Governing Body and the officers of the Issuer are hereby 
authorized to do such acts and things, and to execute and deliver all such certificates or 
agreements as may be necessary or desirable in connection with the issuance of the Note.  All 
actions of the Governing Body, officers or agents of the Issuer taken in connection therewith 
prior to the date hereof are hereby ratified and confirmed.  If the City Clerk shall not be able to 
execute the documents herein authorized, the Assistant City Clerk is hereby authorized to 
execute the documents on behalf of the City. 

Section 9. Sale of Note.  The sale of the Note to Truist Bank, a North 
Carolina banking corporation, at a purchase price of par,  is hereby approved. 

Section 10. Tax Levy for Payment of Note.  For the purpose of providing 
funds for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Note, there shall be and hereby is 
assessed and levied and there shall hereafter be collected a direct tax upon all real and personal 
property now or hereafter subject to taxation within the Issuer, the net proceeds of which will be 
in a sufficient amount to produce such sums as are required to pay the principal and interest 
thereon.  Said sums are irrevocably pledged and appropriated to the payment of the principal and 
interest, when due on the Note, and the provisions to meet the requirements of this Resolution 
shall hereafter be made in due time and manner so that the Note, including both principal and 
interest, shall be fully paid at maturity. 

Section 11. Bank Qualification.  The Issuer hereby designates the Note as a 
“qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.  

Section 12. Contract.  The provisions, terms, and conditions of this Resolution 
will constitute a contract by and between the Issuer and the holder of the Note.  After the 
issuance of the Note, this Resolution shall not be repealed or amended in any respect which will 
adversely affect the rights and interest of the holder of the Note.  



4 

 

Section 13. Financial Covenants.  The City shall furnish the registered owner 
of the Note the annual audited financial statements of the City for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2020 as soon as they are available, but no later than 270 days after the end of such 
fiscal year. 
 

Section 14. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption, and any and all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with 
this Resolution shall be, and they are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. 



5 

Adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer on 29th day of June, 2021. 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
By:        

Mayor Beverly H. Burks 
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
      
City Clerk 
 
  

 

 



 

A-1 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
TAX ANTICIPATION NOTE, 

2021 
 
 

Maturity Date Principal Amount Date of Issue 
   

December 31, 2021 $500,000 July 15, 2021 
 
 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (the “Issuer”), for value received, hereby promises 
to pay to Truist Bank or its successors or assigns (the “Bank”), (a) the sum of $500,000 and 
(b) interest on such sum at the Stated Rate (as defined below),calculated on the basis of a 
360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months, in immediately available funds, on the 
Maturity Date set forth above. 

 
Both principal hereof and interest are payable in lawful money of the United States of 

America.  The Issuer also promises to pay any and all amounts owed by the Issuer as arbitrage 
rebate pursuant to Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and any 
amounts expended by any owner of this Note in connection with the collection of amounts owed 
hereunder, including, but not limited to attorney fees. 

 
This Note is authorized by a resolution (the “Resolution”) duly adopted by the Mayor and 

City Council of the City of Clarkston, Georgia (the “Governing Body”) of the Issuer on June 29, 
2021 (the “Note Resolution”), in accordance with Article IX, Section V, Paragraph V of the 
Constitution of the State of Georgia and Section 36-80-2 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated, for the purpose of making a temporary loan to pay current expenses of the Issuer in 
calendar year 2021. 

 
Upon the occurrence of a Determination of Taxability, then, from and after the Date of 

Taxability, the interest rate used to calculate interest on the Note shall be the Taxable Rate, as 
defined below.  After a Determination of Taxability and upon demand of the owner or any prior 
owner of the Note, the Issuer shall pay to such owner or prior owner such additional amount as 
shall be necessary to provide, together with interest received at the Stated Rate, an equivalent 
amount as if interest on the Note shall have been payable at the Taxable Rate from the Date of 
Taxability. 

Upon the occurrence of a Determination of Non-Bank Qualified Status, then, from and 
after the Date of Non-Bank Qualified Status, the interest rate used to calculate interest on the 
Note shall be the Non-Bank Qualified Rate, as defined below.  After a Determination of Non-
Bank Qualified Status and upon demand of the owner or any prior owner of the Note, the Issuer 
shall pay to such owner or prior owner such additional amount as shall be necessary to provide, 



A-2 

together with interest received at the Stated Rate, an equivalent amount as if interest on the Note 
shall have been payable at the Non-Bank Qualified Rate from the Date of Non-Bank Qualified 
Status.   

Upon a Determination of Taxability or a Determination of Non-Bank Qualified Status, 
the Issuer shall also pay to such owner or to any prior owner upon demand of such owner or 
prior owner any taxes, interest, penalties or other charges assessed against or payable by such 
owner or prior owner and attributable to such Determination of Taxability or such Determination 
of Non-Bank Qualified Status and all reasonable administrative, out-of-pocket and other 
expenses incurred by such owner or prior owner that are attributable to such event, including, 
without limitation, the costs incurred by such owner or prior owner to amend any of its tax 
returns, notwithstanding the repayment of the entire principal amount of the Note or any transfer 
or assignment of the Note. 

The following terms shall have the following meanings in this Note unless the context 
otherwise requires: 

“Date of Non-Bank Qualified Status” shall mean the earliest date as of which the 
Note was not a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the 
Code (or any successor provision) pursuant to a Determination of Non-Bank Qualified Status. 

“Date of Taxability” shall mean the earliest date as of which interest on the Note 
shall have been determined to be includable in the gross income of any owner or prior owner of 
the Note as a result of a Determination of Taxability. 

“Determination of Non-Bank Qualified Status” shall mean any determination by 
the Internal Revenue Service, any federal administrative agency, any court or by the owner based 
upon a written opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that the Note is not a “qualified 
tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code (or any successor 
provision). 

“Determination of Taxability” shall mean and shall be deemed to have occurred 
on the first to occur of the following: 

(a) on that date when the Issuer files any statement, supplemental statement or 
other tax schedule, return or document which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall 
have in fact occurred; 

(b) on the date when the Issuer shall be advised in writing by the 
Commissioner or any District Director of Internal Revenue (or any other government 
official or agent exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) 
that, based upon filings of the Issuer, or upon any review or audit of the Issuer or upon 
any other ground whatsoever, an Event of Taxability shall have occurred; and 

(c) on that date when the Issuer shall receive notice from any owner or prior 
owner that the Internal Revenue Service (or any other government official or agency 
exercising the same or a substantially similar function from time to time) has assessed as 



A-3 

includable in the gross income of such owner or any prior owner the interest on the Note 
paid to such owner or prior owner due to the occurrence of an Event of Taxability; 

provided, however, that no Determination of Taxability shall occur under clauses (b) or (c) above 
in the definition of Determination of Taxability unless the Issuer has been afforded the 
opportunity, at its expense, to contest any such assessment; and provided further that no 
Determination of Taxability shall occur until such contest, if made, has been finally determined; 
and provided further that upon demand from the owner or any prior owner, the Issuer shall 
immediately reimburse such owner or prior owner for any payments such owner (or any prior 
owner) shall be obligated to make as a result of the Determination of Taxability during any such 
contest. 

“Event of Taxability” shall mean a change in law or fact or the interpretation 
thereof, or the occurrence or existence of any fact, event or circumstance (including, without 
limitation, the taking of any action by the Issuer, or the failure to take any action by the Issuer, or 
the making by the Issuer of any misrepresentation herein or in any certificate required to be 
given in connection with the issuance, sale or delivery of the Note) which has the effect of 
causing interest paid or payable on the Note to become includable, in whole or in part, in the 
gross income of the owner or any prior owner for federal income tax purposes. 

“Non-Bank Qualified Rate” shall mean a rate of interest per annum equal to 
2.11%. 

“Stated Rate” shall mean a rate of interest per annum equal to 2.09%. 

“Taxable Rate” shall mean a rate of interest per annum equal to  2.66%. 

This Note is issued in anticipation of the receipt of taxes levied or to be levied for the 
General Fund in calendar year 2021.  The principal amount of this Note together with all other 
temporary loans, notes, warrants or similar obligations does not exceed 75% of the total revenues 
from taxes collected for the General Fund by the Issuer in calendar year 2020 and does not 
exceed, together with other contracts, notes, warrants and obligations of the Issuer for calendar 
year 2021 payable from the General Fund, the total anticipated revenues from taxes of the Issuer 
for the General Fund for calendar year 2021.  No temporary loan or other contract, note, warrant 
or other obligation for current expenses incurred in calendar year 2020 or any prior calendar year 
remains unpaid. 
 

This Note may be prepaid in whole prior to maturity, without premium, in an amount 
equal to par plus accrued interest. 

 
The indebtedness evidenced by this Note is a general obligation of the Issuer, and the full 

faith, credit and taxing power of the Issuer have been pledged to secure the payment of the 
principal of and interest on this Note. 
 

The Issuer hereby waives demand, protest, notice of demand, protest and nonpayment 
and any other notice, required by law relative hereto.  
 



A-4 

The Issuer represents and warrants to the Bank that: 
 

(a) The Issuer is a municipal corporation duly created and existing under the 
laws of the State of Georgia with the power and authority to execute this Note. 

 
(b) The proceeds of the loan evidenced by this Note will be used for the 

operations of the Issuer. 
 

(c) The execution and delivery of, and the performance of the obligations and 
agreements of the Issuer set forth or referred to in this Note have been duly authorized by 
all necessary proceedings. 

 
(d) There is no action, suit or proceeding pending or, to the best knowledge of 

the Issuer, threatened against or affecting the Issuer before any court, governmental 
department, commission, board or other federal, state, Issuer, municipal or other 
instrumentality, agency or authority which might adversely affect the power or authority 
of the Issuer or the ability of the Issuer to perform its obligations set forth or referred to in 
this Note. 

 
(e) All authorizations, consents, approvals and findings of governmental 

bodies or agencies required of the Issuer in connection with the (i) execution and delivery 
of this Note, (ii) adoption of the Note Resolution and (iii) consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by this Note and the Note Resolution have been obtained and 
are in full force and effect.  The Note Resolution has not been modified or rescinded and 
is in full force and effect. 

 
(f) The execution and delivery of, and the performance of the obligations and 

agreements set forth or referred to in this Note, will not conflict with or constitute a 
violation or a default under any constitutional provision, statute, indenture, mortgage, 
lease, resolution, or other agreement or instrument, to which the Issuer is a party or by 
which it is bound, or any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or 
body having jurisdiction over the Issuer or its activities or properties. 

 
(g) The adoption of the Note Resolution occurred at a meeting held after due 

and reasonable public notice given in accordance with the Issuer’s procedures and the 
provisions of law, which was open to the public and at which a quorum was present and 
acting throughout, and said actions appear of public record in the minute books of the 
Issuer. 

 
It is hereby certified, recited and declared that all acts, conditions and things required by 

the Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia to be done precedent to or as a condition to the 
issuance of this Note have been properly done, have happened and have been performed in the 
manner required by the Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia; that the tax levies in 
anticipation of which this Note is issued are or will be valid and legal levies; that the Issuer will 
use a sufficient amount of the proceeds of such tax levies and other available funds for the 
payment of this Note and the interest hereon; and that this Note, together with all other 



A-5 

indebtedness of the Issuer, is within every debt or other limit provided by the Constitution and 
laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to 
them in the Note Resolution. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer acting by and through its Governing Body, has 

caused this Note to be executed in its name by the manual signature of the Mayor, and attested 
by the manual signature of the City Clerk and the seal of the Issuer to be impressed or imprinted 
hereon, all as of the date of original issue as shown above. 
 
 

CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
 
(SEAL) 
 

By:  
Mayor 

 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
  
City Clerk 



A-6 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 
 

This is the Note described in the within mentioned authorizing resolution of the Mayor 
and City Council of the City of Clarkston, Georgia adopted on June 29, 2021, and is hereby 
authenticated. 

 
 

 CITY OF CLARKSTON, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
By:        

Mayor 
 

 
Date of Authentication:  July 15, 2021 
 
 

*   *   *   *   * 



 

 

CITY CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 
 
 

The undersigned does hereby certify that the foregoing pages of typewritten 
matter constitute a true and correct copy of a resolution pertaining to the City of Clarkston, 
Georgia Tax Anticipation Note, 2021 in the principal amount of $500,000, which resolution was 
duly adopted at a meeting of the governing body (the “Governing Body”) of the City of 
Clarkston, Georgia which was duly called and assembled on June 29, 2021, which was open to 
the public, and at which a quorum was present and acting throughout and that the original of said 
resolution appears of record in the minute book of the Governing Body which is in my custody 
and control, and that said resolution has not been amended, repealed, revoked or rescinded as of 
the date hereof. 

 
Given under my hand and the seal of the Governing Body, this 29th day of June, 

2021. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
(SEAL) 

 
 
 
       
City Clerk 

 
 



BB&T               Branch Banking & Trust Company 

 Governmental Finance  
5130 Parkway Plaza Boulevard 

 Charlotte, North Carolina 28217 
          Phone (704) 954-1700  

Fax (704) 954-1799  
June 14, 2021 
 
Mr. Dan Defnall 
Finance Director 
City of Clarkston, Georgia 
 
Via Electronic Mail: ddefnall@cityofclarkston.com;  
 
Dear Dan: 
 
Truist Bank (“Lender”) is pleased to offer this proposal for the financing requested by the City of Clarkston, 
Georgia (“Borrower”).   
 
PROJECT: Tax Anticipation Note, Series 2021 (the “Note”) 
 
AMOUNT: $500,000.00 
 
MATURITY DATE: December 31, 2021 
 
INTEREST RATE: 2.09% 
 
TAX STATUS: Tax Exempt-BQ 
 
PAYMENTS: Interest: At Maturity 
  Principal: At Maturity 
 
INTEREST RATE 
CALCULATION: 30/360 
 
SECURITY: The Note will be secured by the Borrower’s full faith and credit and unlimited tax 

authority. 
 
PREPAYMENT 
TERMS: Callable in whole at par at any time  
 
RATE 
EXPIRATION: July 26, 2021 
 
LEGAL REVIEW 
FEE:  $0 
 
FUNDING: The financing shall be fully funded at closing and allow for a maximum of four (4) 

funding disbursements in the form of wires or checks. 
 

mailto:ddefnall@cityofclarkston.com


  
 

DOCUMENTATION: It will be the responsibility of the Borrower to retain and compensate counsel to 
appropriately structure the financing documents according to federal and state 
statutes. Documents will include provisions that outline appropriate changes to be 
implemented in the event that this transaction is determined to be taxable or non-
bank qualified in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. These provisions must 
be acceptable to Lender.   

 
  Lender will require the Borrower to provide an unqualified bond counsel opinion 

addressed to Lender (or a reliance letter), a no litigation certificate dated as of the 
date of funding, and evidence of IRS Form 8038 filing. Additionally, the Borrower 
will be required to execute a wire transfer agreement. Lender reserves the right to 
review and approve all documentation before closing. Lender will not be required to 
present the Note in order to receive payment.  

   
REPORTING  
REQUIREMENTS: Lender will require financial statements to be delivered within 270 days after the 

conclusion of each fiscal year end throughout the term of the financing or in 
accordance with state requirements. 

 
Lender will have the right to cancel this offer by notifying the Borrower of its election to do so (whether this 
offer has previously been accepted by the Borrower) if at any time prior to the closing there is a material adverse 
change in the Borrower’s financial condition, if we discover adverse circumstances of which we are currently 
unaware, if we are unable to agree on acceptable documentation with the Borrower or if there is a change in law 
(or proposed change in law) that changes the economic effect of this financing to Lender.  
 
Costs of counsel for the Borrower and any other costs will be the responsibility of the Borrower. 
 
The stated interest rate assumes that the Borrower expects to borrow less than $10,000,000 in the current calendar 
year and that the financing will be bank qualified and tax exempt under the Internal Revenue Code. Lender 
reserves the right to terminate this bid or to negotiate a mutually acceptable interest rate if the financing is not 
bank qualified and tax exempt. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to offer this financing proposal. Please call me at (704) 607-6985 with your 
questions and comments.  We look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Truist Bank 

 
Mary Parrish Coley 
Senior Vice President 
 
 



CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 

MEETING DATE: JUNE 29, 2021 

SUBJECT:  Consider Repealing City Ordinance No 464, Requiring the Use of Masks or Face Coverings in Public 
During the COVID-19 Pandemic 

PURPOSE:   

Consider repealing City Ordinance City Ordinance No 464, Requiring the Use of Masks or Face Coverings in 
Public During the COVID-19 Pandemic 

NEED/IMPACT: 

City Council to consider repealing the enclosed City Ordinance adopted on March 2, 
2021, that required all to wear a mask or face covering while indoors at public places 
including restaurants (while not at table eating), retail stores, grocery stores, etc., and 
outdoors in which unrelated individuals could not maintain at least a six (6) feet distance.   

The March 2, 2021, ordinance replaced the original emergency resolution, 2020-022, 
requiring the use of masks or face coverings while in public.   

RECOMMENDATION: 

None by staff.  

ITEM NO: G10 

ACTION TYPE: 
Repeal Ordinance  HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting 

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:    YES   NO 
Pages:  7 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Jamie Carroll,

Debra Johnson

PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683   



 
 
 



 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 



Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES MEETING 

DATE: JUNE 29, 2021 

SUBJECT: Consider  Council Creating a Business & Economic Development Council Standing 
Advisory Committee 

 

 
 

PURPOSE:  
Council to consider creating a Business & Economic Development Council Standing Advisory 
Committee 

NEED/ IMPACT: 

The Business & Economic Development Committee would review and discuss matters pertaining to 
Clarkston businesses, business owners, and entrepreneurs. This includes evaluating and developing 
proposals for improvements to policy and processes that impact businesses, planning and organizing 
events that improve the well-being of businesses, promoting practices that build and sustain healthy 
relationships between businesses, the city, and residents. 

Councilman Mark Perkins would like to chair this SAC upon Council approval.  

RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 

ITEM NO: G11 

ACTION TYPE: 
Amend SACHEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting

DEPARTMENT: Administration 

ATTACHEMENT: YES  NO 
Pages:   

PUBLIC HEARING: YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Mark Perkins, Jamie 
Carroll 
PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683  



Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

PURPOSE:   The Alcohol Review Committee (ARC) has received and reviewed an ownership change 
application for alcohol beverage package store for Beer/Wine/Malt Beverages.  The location to be 
considered for this alcohol beverage license is Fresh Food Town LLC  located at 4604 E Ponce de 
Leon Ave. 

NEED/ IMPACT:  The new owners of the Fresh Food Town at 4604E Ponce de Leon Ave has made 
application for an alcohol beverage, license for Beer/Wine/Malt beverages for retail package sales. 
To date: all of the required inspections have been performed and the required background check 
has been passed. Code Compliance Officer Shennetha Smith has reviewed the application and has 
measured the location and found it does meet minimum distances as defined by the Code. 

The ARC has performed a thorough review of the various components to this application. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Staff (ARC) recommends approval.   

Under Clarkston Code Sec. 3-53, the City Council is vested with the final authority to grant an alcohol 
license. 

ITEM NO: G12

ACTION TYPE: 
Resolution 

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
HEARING TYPE: 
Council Meeting MEETING DATE: June 29, 2021

SUBJECT: To consider a new alcohol beverage license application. 

DEPARTMENT: Alcohol Review Committee 

ATTACHMENT:   YES  NO 
Pages:  

PUBLIC HEARING:  YES  NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT:   Robin I. Gomez 

PHONE NUMBER: 404-296-6489   

































CITY OF CLARKSTON 

CLARKSTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

PURPOSE:   

To consider the  top three firms as selected by City staff for the redesign of the City’s 
website.  

NEED/IMPACT: 

The City of Clarkston (CITY) solicited proposals from qualified and experienced website design firms 
to re-design, develop, and implement a new design for the City’s website.  The project will involve 
utilizing posted information on the existing website as well as the implementation of new 
information, products, and features as suggested by the City and the firm selected.   The City’s 
proposal also solicited responses from firms with the capability of integrating additional features, 
functionality, and/or software that may be identified in the future.   

City staff from Finance, Planning & Development, City Clerk, and City Manager’s office reviewed the 
28 proposals received and narrowed down the list (based on the below criteria) to three firms:   

1. Civic Engage
2. MuniCode
3. VC3

The City requested all three firms to provide a brief presentation and participate in a 
Question/Answer session, completed at the June 22 work Session.  After the presentations and 
based on recommendations by City Council and Staff, City staff will negotiate an agreement for 
City Council to approve at the June 29, 2021, Council Meeting.   

The following represents the schedule of work from the RFP issuance to the project’s completion:  

ITEM NO: G13 

ACTION TYPE: 
RFP Selection

BUSINESS AGENDA / MINUTES 
HEARING TYPE: 

Council Meeting    
MEETING DATE: 

 
JUNE 29, 2021

SUBJECT:  Council to Recommend City Website Redesign Firm

DEPARTMENT: City Administration 

ATTACHMENT:    YES   NO 
Pages:  30 

PUBLIC HEARING: YES   NO 

INFORMATION CONTACT: Robin I. Gomez

PHONE NUMBER: 678.409.9683   



 
 
 
CRITERIA FOR EVALUATION AND AWARD:  The City evaluates three (3) categories of information:  
responsiveness, responsibility, and the technical response.  All responses must meet the following 
responsiveness and responsibility criteria.         
a) Responsiveness.  The City will determine whether the response complies with the instructions for 

submitting responses including completeness of the response which encompasses the inclusion of all 
required attachments and submissions.  The City must reject any responses that are submitted late.  
Failure to meet other requirements may result in rejection.   

b) Responsibility.  The City will determine whether the respondent is one with whom it can or should do 
business.  Factors that the City may evaluate to determine “responsibility” include, but are not limited to:  
experience, expertise, and past performance, references (including those found outside the response), 
compliance with applicable laws, respondent’s record of performance and integrity, i.e., has the 
respondent been delinquent or unfaithful to any contract with the City, whether the respondent is 
qualified legally to contract with the City, financial stability, and the perceived ability to perform 
completely as specified.  A respondent must at all times have financial resources sufficient, in the opinion 
of the City, to ensure performance of the contract and must provide proof upon request.  The City will 
determine whether any failure to supply information, or the quality of the information, will result in 
rejection.  

c) Technical Response.  The City will determine how well responses meet its requirements in terms of the 
response to the solicitation and how well the offer addresses the needs of the project.  The City will rank 
offers using a point ranking system (unless otherwise specified) as an aid in conducting the evaluation.   

 
The criteria that will be evaluated and their relative weights are: 

 
Evaluation Criteria       Points 

 
Experience and Qualifications of Firm and Staff   25 
Technical Approach/Scope of the Project-Work Plan  40 
Customer Service        25 
Budget         10 

 
 
COPIES OF FIRM PRESENTATIONS  ENCLOSED. 



Clarkston, GA 
Intro to CivicPlus
RFP 01-21 City Website Redesign



2

L O C A L  
G O V E R N M E N T S

4,000+

Y E A R S  I N  
B U S I N E S S

20+

L O C A L  G O V T  
F O C U S

City & County

CivicPlus is THE integrated technology platform 

for local government. We connect municipal 

employees and elected officials with the citizens 

they represent and serve with the simplicity, 

versatility, and power of our integrated portfolio 

of local government solutions.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
We are HQ in Manhattan KS, privately held, 4,000 clients, 20+ years in the business, 350 employees and we only handle county and city business



3

• Secure, single sign-on (SSO)
• System-wide reporting capabilities
• Unified identify management
• Advanced accessibility
• Strengthened security
• Robust APIs
• A single payment gateway, CP Pay

Our Integrated 
Platform – called 
CivicEngage

One Central Dashboard

CivicPlus’ unified applications come 

together in a single technology platform.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
What this wheel is showing is that at the CORE, CivicPlus is a website company (securely hosted in the cloud) the SPOKES are what we call “Suites” (optional offerings, since we know that you cut 17 different checks to 17 different vendors) – CivicEngage is what we call the 	website platform…Explain the SUITES…the 5 suites are extra add-ons now or down the line…



4

• Secure, single sign-on (SSO)
• System-wide reporting capabilities
• Unified identify management
• Advanced accessibility
• Strengthened security
• Robust APIs

Our Integrated 
Platform – “Modules” –
all included

One Central Dashboard

CivicPlus’ unified applications come 

together in a single technology platform.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Modules included in the CMS, easily updated and integrated throughout the website - Our CivicPlus® Platform allows all our solutions to work together seamlessly and securely, leveraging existing data and reducing information silos.



• #1 Provider of government 
websites

• 50+ local Georgia customers 
• Dedicated to local government
• GovTech100 / Inc. 5000
• “ Make Government Work Better” 

is our Mission Statement

Who is CivicPlus



How does CivicPlus 
handle on-line billing?

Question: 



01

You can use CP Pay (included) or use your own 
merchant and we will link to, easy online payments

Customer/
Citizen CP 

Solution
Takes the card 

data and 
communicates 

the status

Facilitates 
verification of 
the card data

Verifies 
cardholder 

data

Verifies 
customer is 

‘good’ for the 
payment

Presenter
Presentation Notes
CP Pay has no UI that an end user can see. CP Pay is nothing more than an api that acts as a switch board connecting users to payment gateways.For an admin, CP Pay does have a portal and a UI where they can access and manage their gateway configuration(s) and can view transaction data in its raw form.Credit card numbers never flow through our hands and never stored in the solution. We are not involved at any point in the transmission, capture, transfer or storage of card holder data.CP Pay ONLY integrates with the Payment Gateway. 



03

Who are our Partners?

MORE TO COME!



What about Designs?

answer: Customizable 
websites where we will 

capture your vision

Question: 



Thanu

Clarkston, GA & CivicPlus 



Clarkston, GA & CivicPlus 

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Customizable designs that our Project Management team will help capture



CivicPlus
Project 
Resources

Project Manager Assignment

Mavenlink Credentials

Dedicated Art Director

Content Team

Training 

100% Satisfaction with Design

Dedicated Client Success Manager 

Top Notch Customer Service 

Online User Center

Presenter
Presentation Notes
At the end of the day I hope we have a starting point: Now when we dive deeper you will find out that we will assist you all the way through the Project Management process (@  months) and plenty of help along the way capturing your vision…

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Sv5D9yyFs7Sud-Wl_ar7EoDm_aaFo83Y/view?usp=sharing


MAIN MENU HELPING LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFORM, ENGAGE & PROTECT THEIR CITIZENS

CivicPlus Customer Support

• Comprehensive User Safety Net:
• Unlimited Customer Support 
• Four (4) ways to 

communicate – phone, email, 
chat, client success manager

• Online User Help Center 
available 24 x 7

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Top Notch customer service

https://www.google.com/imgres?imgurl=https://ultimatehomeprofits.com/rd01/images/customer-service.jpg&imgrefurl=https://ultimatehomeprofits.com/rd01/support.html&docid=zLm7-bT8mNpaZM&tbnid=BRvURXQm5CpAUM:&w=500&h=383&bih=652&biw=1315&ved=0ahUKEwjB-qOEwKXNAhVDOj4KHf1PB3o4ZBAzCBQoETAR&iact=mrc&uact=8


MAIN MENU HELPING LOCAL GOVERNMENT INFORM, ENGAGE & PROTECT THEIR CITIZENS

CivicPlus Award-Winning Customer Support

• For the 3rd year in a Row, 
• CivicPlus Customer Support 
has won a Stevie Award. 

• We won 3 Awards:

• Customer Service Department
of the Year – Silver 

• Front Line Service Award & 
• Customer Service MVP for 

our Covid-19 response

Presenter
Presentation Notes




Georgia 
Clients

• Avondale Estates, Fulton 
Co Superior Court, 
Marietta, Powder Springs, 
Paulding County, Visit 
Douglasville, Norcross, 
Lawrenceville, Hapeville, 
Riverdale, Lovejoy, 
Hampton, Peachtree, 
Warner Robbins, Richmond 
Co Tax Commission, 
Newton County, 
Watkinsville, Tybee Island, 
Savannah…

Presenter
Presentation Notes
CivicPlus clients in the area



1
6

ADDRESS
302 S. 4th Street
Manhattan, KS 66502

PHONE
(913) 954-0555

CONTACT US
Email pugh@civicplus.com

Thank You

Presenter
Presentation Notes
Thank you, any questions?





Our Mission: Strengthening Democracy

…by connecting municipal staff to their community. 



Our Vision: The Circle of Governance

Integrated Technology Solutions Designed 
to make Local Government Management Easier
 Website Design & CMS
 Meeting & Agenda Management

 Handbook, Policies & Procedures Software

 Self-Publishing Software

 Document Archival Tool

 Traditional Codification Services



Our Passion Leads to Your Awards

AWARDED GOVTECH’S TOP 100 INNOVATOR LIST 
6 YEARS IN A ROW  2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021

Award Criteria Include: • ADA Compliance • Design • Mobile Friendliness
• Citizen Ease of Use • Staff Ease of  Use • Site Features

2018 EXCELLENCE IN 
COMMUNICATIONS 

2018



Website Design Goals

1. Stunning Design
2. Citizen - Self Service
3. Staff - Easy to Use



True Custom Design Process



Features Overview

 Responsive Mobile Friendly Design
 Simple Page Editor
 Best-in-Class Search Engine
 ADA/WCAG 2.1 AA HTML Compliance
 Social Media Integration 
 Web Page Categories - create a page once, 

have it show up in multiple places
 Department Micro-sites (sites-within-a-site)
 Rotating Banners and Headline Articles
 Online Job Postings
 Online Bid/RFP Postings
 Photo Album Slideshows
 Google Maps Integration
 Resource/Document Center
 Image auto-scaling and resizing
 RSS Feeds Inbound/Outbound
 Site Metrics (Google Analytics)
 Scheduled Publish On/Off Dates
 Unlimited User logins
 Unlimited Content
 Word-like WYSIWYG Editor

 Private Pages – staff view only
 Unlimited Online Fillable Forms
 Emergency Alerts
 Meeting Agendas/Minutes/Videos
 Event Calendar
 Page Versioning / Audit Trail 
 Latest News / Press Releases
 Anti-spam controls
 Email Harvesting Protection
 Broken Link Finder
 Dynamic Sitemap
 Support for Windows, Mac, Linux
 Video integration (YouTube, Vimeo, etc.)
 Client owns rights to all data
 Organization/Staff Directory
 Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)
 Ordinances and Resolutions
 Share This Button (Facebook/Twitter)
 Secure Pages / SSL
 Printer Friendly Pages

 Email Subscriptions / Notifications
 Projects Directory
 Parks and Trails Directory
 Property Directory (Commercial/Industrial)
 Business Directory
 Facility Reservations
 Specialty Sub-site Graphic Designs
 Custom Feature Development



• ADA Compliance (WCAG 2.1 AA)
• Drupal Open Source – Google Friendly
• Enhanced Search Capabilities
• Integration & Customization
• Easy Web Page Authoring
• Create Content Once – Multiple Locations
• Customer Service – Greater than 99% Retention

Key Differentiators



Approach and Timeline



VC3
Website Development Services



Project Approach

1. Strategy
• Survey Key Stakeholders

• Site Map / Content Analysis

• Requirements Gathering

2. Design
• Information Architecture

• Visual Design

• Content Development

3. Development
• HTML5/CSS3

• Responsive Design / Mobile 
Accessibility

• ADA Compliance

4. Training & Launch
• CMS Training

• Go Live

















VC3 Partnership Plan

Monthly Stats
• Google Analytics Reports

• Tips and Suggestions

Yearly Reviews
• Statistics Review

• Website Health Report

• Review current/future strategic goals

Fourth Year Redesign
• New, Free Custom Redesign 

• Site Map / Content Analysis and 
Update

Unlimited Support
• Contact your team directly

• Support Desk

• CMS Help Documentation



Thank You!

Questions?


	F. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS NEW BUSINESS F1) Presentation - Zoning Rewrite
	F2) Presentation- City Website Redesign
	F3) Presentation – Market St Sidewalk
	G. OLD BUSINESS
	H. NEW BUSINESS
	PRESENTATION - Public Hearing to Adopt the 2021 Millage Rate  JUNE 22  2021  MEETINGS.pdf
	Public Hearing to Adopt the� 2021 Millage Rate
	��Public Hearing to Adopt 2021 Millage Rate��AGENDA��
	Process
	First… �a few definitions
	Appraised Value
	Assessed Value
	Tax Digest
	What is a “mil”?
	Rollback Rate
	Now for the numbers…
	10 Year Gross Digest History
	City of Clarkston Net Digest Changes 
	City of Clarkston Digest
	Calculating the Millage Rate
	Calculating the Millage Rate
	Millage Rate History
	Proposed Millage Rates �of DeKalb Cities
	Increase In Net Digest�DeKalb Cities
	So……
	How are my taxes computed?
	How are my taxes computed?
	How are my taxes computed?
	How are my taxes computed?
	�Public Hearing��Questions - comments�

	ROLLBACK Corrected 2021 PT 32.1 City of Clarkston Rollback (005).pdf
	Final Version

	Finance Dept Property Tax Revenue Calculation for 2021 Tax Digest 05.25.2021 (003).pdf
	2021 Revenue No Mill change
	2021 Revenues at Rollback rate

	Presentation SUMMARY - WEBSITE REDESIGN RFP - PRESENTATIONS BY 3 FINALISTS.pdf
	SUBJECT:  City Website Redesign RFP – Presentations by 3 Finalists

	Pres website CivicPlus Power Point 2021.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Who is CivicPlus
	How does CivicPlus handle on-line billing?
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	What about Designs?��answer: Customizable websites where we will capture your vision
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	    CivicPlus Customer Support
	Slide Number 14
	Georgia Clients
	Slide Number 16

	Municode  web presentation.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	PRES SUMMARY - PRESENTATION - MARKET ST SIDEWALK.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Market St Sidewalk Location Options

	PRES C3 2021-06-15 Market Street (1) - On Road Sidewalk.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Market Street-C1
	Market Street-C2
	Market Street-C3
	Market Street-Layout1


	PRES C3 2021-06-15 Market Street-ALT (1) - Off Road Sidewalk.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Market Street-alt-C1
	Market Street-alt-C2
	Market Street-alt-C3
	Market Street-alt-Layout1


	SUMMARY - SPLOST 04 B+C EASEMENTS.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Approve SPLOST Project 04-B+C TRAILHEAD/MELL AVE/ROWLAND ST Temporary Easement Agreements

	SUMMARY - REPEAL ORDINANCE ALLOWING RESTAURANT LATE NIGHT OPERATIONS.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Discuss Repealing Late Night Restaurant Operations related to City Ordinance 19-433, Late Night Alcohol Sales for Consumption on Premises
	SUBJECT:  Discuss Repealing Late Night Restaurant Operations related to City Ordinance 19-433, Late Night Alcohol Sales for Consumption on Premises

	Resolution Authorizing TAN City of Clarkston 2021 (00124343xA91E4).pdf
	Section 1. Findings.  The Governing Body hereby finds and determines as follows:  (a) the principal amount of the Note and any other outstanding temporary loans do not exceed 75% of the total gross income from taxes collected by the Issuer in calendar...
	Section 2. Authorization of Note; Terms and Execution.  There is hereby authorized to be issued a tax anticipation note of the Issuer in the principal amount of $500,000 which shall be designated “City of Clarkston, Georgia Tax Anticipation Note, 2021...
	Section 3. Approval of Form of Note.  The Note as initially issued shall be issued in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A subject to such minor changes, insertions or omissions as may be approved by the Mayor, and the execution and del...
	Section 4. Tax Revenues Used to Repay Note.  The Issuer agrees to use for payment of the Note and the interest thereon a sufficient portion of the revenues received by the Issuer from taxes levied or to be levied for calendar year 2021 for the General...
	Section 5. Authentication of Note.  The Note as originally issued and each Note issued in connection with a registration of transfer shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form set forth in the Note.  The Note...
	Section 6. Registered Owner.  The person in whose name the Note shall be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and payment of or on account of either principal or interest shall be made only to or upon...
	Section 7. Tax Covenants and Representations.  The Note is being issued by the Issuer for the governmental purpose of providing funds for the current expenses of the Issuer for the year 2021, in compliance with the conditions necessary for the interes...
	(a) It will not take any action, or fail to take any action, if any such action or failure to take action would adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Note under Section 103 of the Code.
	(b) It will not directly or indirectly use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Note or any other funds of the Issuer or take or omit to take any action in a way that would cause the Note to be (i) a “private activity bond” within the meaning of S...
	(c) It will not directly or indirectly use or permit the use of any proceeds of the Note or any other funds of the Issuer or take or omit to take any action that would cause the Note to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the C...
	(d) It will cause to be completed and filed with the Internal Revenue Service the information required by Section 149(e) of the Code (Treasury Form 8038-G) simultaneously with the issuance of the Note.

	Section 8. General Authority.  From and after the date of adoption of this Resolution, any member of the Governing Body and the officers of the Issuer are hereby authorized to do such acts and things, and to execute and deliver all such certificates o...
	Section 9. Sale of Note.  The sale of the Note to Truist Bank, a North Carolina banking corporation, at a purchase price of par,  is hereby approved.
	Section 10. Tax Levy for Payment of Note.  For the purpose of providing funds for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Note, there shall be and hereby is assessed and levied and there shall hereafter be collected a direct tax upon all r...
	Section 11. Bank Qualification.  The Issuer hereby designates the Note as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.
	Section 13. Financial Covenants.  The City shall furnish the registered owner of the Note the annual audited financial statements of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 as soon as they are available, but no later than 270 days after t...
	Section 14. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its adoption, and any and all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with this Resolution shall be, and they are, to the extent of such conflict, ...
	Adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer on 29th day of June, 2021.

	SUMMARY - REPEAL ORDINANCE WEAR A MASK - COVID -19.pdf
	SUBJECT:  Discuss Repealing City Ordinance No 464, Requiring the Use of Masks or Face Coverings in Public During the COVID-19 Pandemic

	Agenda  630P Special Call Work Session  June 22  2021.pdf
	F. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS NEW BUSINESS F1) Presentation - Zoning Rewrite
	F2) Presentation- City Website Redesign
	F3) Presentation – Market St Sidewalk
	G. OLD BUSINESS
	H. NEW BUSINESS

	Draft Minutes  Council Meeting  June 1 2021.pdf
	G. NEW BUSINESS
	H. EXECUTIVES SESSION
	Motion: Debra Johnson  made a motion close the executive session and go into open session:
	Second: Laura Hopkins
	Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0).
	I. ADJOURNMENT:
	Motion: Laura Hopkins made a motion to adjourn the meeting.
	Second: Debra Johnson
	Vote: A vote was called and the item passed unanimously (5, 0).

	Draft Minutes   630P Special Call Work Session  June 22  2021.pdf
	F. PRESENTATION/ ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS NEW BUSINESS F1) Presentation - Zoning Rewrite  Lauren Blaszyk, Pond Company, gave a presentation on the Zoning Rewrite status.
	F2) Presentation- City Website Redesign
	Presenters of three finalist for website redesign provided presentations.
	CivicPlus John Pugh
	Municode- Chris Rogers
	VC3 – Tim McCuasland
	F3) Presentation – Market St Sidewalk
	Larry Kaiser provided a presentation on Market Street Sidewalks and potential options. City Engineering firm prepared design plans for two alternatives for sidewalk placement on Market Street.
	The two plans are as follows:
	Option #1 - Place sidewalk partially on the road, which reduces the road width from 24 feet to 21 feet, add an 18 inch grass beauty strip and relocate the existing granite curb. Very similar to the Rowland St project (North Indian Creek to Lovejoy). S...
	Option #2 – Place sidewalk behind the existing curb with a 18 inch beauty strip and reset the existing
	granite curb to improve street drainage
	Public Speaker (s): Brian Medford, Dean Moore
	G. OLD BUSINESS
	H. NEW BUSINESS

	Pres website CivicPlus Power Point 2021.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Who is CivicPlus
	How does CivicPlus handle on-line billing?
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	What about Designs?��answer: Customizable websites where we will capture your vision
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	    CivicPlus Customer Support
	Slide Number 14
	Georgia Clients
	Slide Number 16

	Pres web Municode  web presentation.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	VC3 Website Partner Plan.pdf
	VC3
	Project Approach
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	VC3 Partnership Plan
	Thank You!��Questions?

	Agenda  Council Meeting  June 29  2021.pdf
	G. NEW BUSINESS
	H. ADJOURNMENT:




